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Board members as of 31 March 2022: 

Mark Lewis 

Chair of the Board 
 
As well as being the Chair of Trent & Dove, 
Mark is also the Chair of Trustees for ‘AFK’ 
(formerly known as ‘Action for Kids’), a 
national charity which supports disabled 
children, young people and their families 
via the use of accredited education, 
training and work experience 

programmes.  
 
Mark is also the Chief Financial Officer and Quality Director 
of the Fair Banking Foundation, a national charity dedicated 
to encouraging banking institutions to improve the financial 
well-being of their customers.  Mark is also a member of the 
National Housing Federation’s (NHF) National Board Member 
Group, which helps the NHF to develop housing sector policy, 
campaign and lobbying initiatives on behalf of its members. 
 
Mark is a qualified finance professional and has over 30 years 
of experience in Financial Services, mainly gained via work at 
major international banks. 

 

Gary Middleton 

Senior Independent Director* and Chair 
of the Governance & Remuneration 
Committee.  
 
Gary is the Assistant Director of 
Development Finance at Homes England, 
an executive non-departmental public 
body sponsored by the UK Government’s 

Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
(DLUHC).  
 
Gary is an Economics graduate, holds a MA degree in 
Business Administration and is a Fellow of the Chartered 
Institute of Bankers.  Gary has held several senior 
leadership roles in the banking sector and has significant 
experience of real estate finance, restructuring and asset 
management.  
 
*Gary Middleton retired as the Board’s Senior Independent 
Director on 3 April 2022. During the financial year, Gary was 
also a member of the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 
and retired as a member of the Committee in February 
2022.  
 

 

Geoff Prior 
Non-Executive Director and member of 
the Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee.  Non-Executive Director of 
T&D’s subsidiary, First Housing Limited.  
 
Geoff has worked in the social housing 
sector for over 35 years, having worked in 
senior leadership roles at Gentoo, 

Thirteen Group and Northampton Partnership Homes.   
 
Geoff contributes extensive experience of operating at 
Executive Director level across all asset management 
functions and has particular experience of the delivery of 
repairs and maintenance services and landlord health & 
safety compliance.  
 
Geoff is passionate about the provision of quality, affordable 
housing and the key role that housing associations play in 
delivering this.  
 
Geoff is also a Non-Executive Director of First Housing 
Limited, one of Trent & Dove Housing’s commercial operating 
subsidiaries. 

 Kathryn Robb 

Non-Executive Director and member of 
the Governance and Remuneration 
Committee.  Chair of T&D’s subsidiary, 
Trinity Housing Developments Limited. 
 
Kathryn is a senior housing professional 
with over 30 years’ experience of front 
line service delivery, strategic 

development and leadership.  
 
Kathryn holds a Post Graduate qualification in Housing 
Studies and is a Member of the Chartered Institute of 
Housing.  
 
Kathryn has extensive Development experience, having 
particular insight into securing new business opportunities 
and funding bids, merger and stock transfer negotiations 
and establishing effective multi-agency partnerships.  
 
Kathryn is also the Chair of Trinity Housing Developments 
Limited, one of Trent & Dove Housing’s commercial 
operating subsidiaries. 
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Anita Wanowicz 
Non-Executive Director and Vice 
Chair of the Operations Committee 
 
Anita is a Social Worker for Stoke-on-
Trent City Council and has an MA in 
Social Work and an MA in Sociology.   
 
Anita has, throughout her career, 

supported a variety of people and families in challenging 
situations including those with complex vulnerabilities.  Anita 
has worked in different sectors including education, care and 
charities which support families.   
 
A resident of Burton upon Trent, Anita is a strong advocate for 
the Customer Voice and is a passionate supporter of 
encouraging customer engagement and involvement in the way 
that Trent & Dove operates. 

 

Mark Ashby 

Non-Executive Director, Chair of 
the Operations Committee and 
member of the Governance and 
Remuneration Committee.  
 
Mark worked for over 10 years in 
providing care and teaching support 
for students with a range of learning 
or speech and hearing difficulties. 

Mark also has several years’ experience working within 
the prison service. 
 
A resident of Burton upon Trent, Mark has a real desire 
to influence important decisions relating to the 
community he lives in and is a passionate advocate for 
the role that customer views and insight play in shaping 
the Board’s strategic decision-making.  

 Mike Hew 

Non-Executive Director and member of the 
Governance and Remuneration Committee 
 
 
Mike has over 23 years’ experience as a senior 
housing executive, most recently as Chief 

Executive of Caldmore Area Housing Association and Caldmore-
Accord. Until 2020, Mike was Deputy Chair (and later, Interim 
Chair) of Walsall Housing Group, where he also Chaired the 
Group’s Governance and Remuneration Committee. 
 
Mike has a proven track record of motivating teams, developing 
people and creating effective organisational culture.  
 
Mike prides himself on being an excellent communicator who is 
highly experienced in managing change, developing strategy and 
building effective strategic partnerships. 

 

Michael Finister-Smith 
Non-Executive Director* and 
Chair** of the Audit and Risk 
Assurance Committee 
 
Michael has extensive experience of 

the Social Housing Sector having held numerous roles 
as a senior leader, director and social housing 
consultant.  Michael is a Board member at Nottingham 
Community Housing Association, where he is also a 
member of their Audit and Risk Committee. Michael is 
also a Board member of Ongo Homes, where he is the 
Chair of their Audit and Risk Committee. 
 
Michael worked for seven years as a social housing 
consultant and his work involved project managing 
numerous housing stock transfers from local 
authorities. Responsibilities included developing 
business plans, putting new funding in place, setting up 
new boards of management, designing property 
investment programmes and leading on 
communication and consultation with tenants. 
 
*Michael joined the Board of Trent & Dove Housing in 
May 2020 as a Co-Optee. On 11 May 2021 the Board of 
Trent & Dove Housing Limited appointed Michael as a 
Non-Executive Director.  
 
**Michael was appointed as the Chair of ARAC on 1 
October 2021, following the retirement of its previous 
Chair (Afzal Ismail) from the Board on 30 September 
2021.  
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Rolf Levesley 
Non-Executive Director and member of the 
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee. 
 
Rolf has over 20 years’ experience of operating 
in senior-level roles at Local Authorities, most 
recently as the Chief Executive of South 

Staffordshire Council.  
 
Since retirement, Rolf has held a number of Non-Executive roles 
in the social housing sector, having been the Chair of South 
Staffordshire Housing Association and the Housing Plus Group. 
 
As a qualified Solicitor and senior executive, Rolf has extensive 
experience of strategic and financial planning, managing and 
motivating people and resolving difficult and sensitive issues. 
Rolf prides himself on his open and consultative approach.  
 
Rolf was appointed as T&D’s Senior Independent Director on 4 
April 2022.  

 

John Doherty 
Non-Executive Director and 
member of the Audit and Risk 
Assurance Committee 
 
John joined the Trent & Dove Board 
on 1 October 2021.  

 
Experienced in leading organisations in both the public 
and private sectors, John is currently the Chief 
Executive at Entrust Support Services, an education 
and skills support services business and part of the 
Capita group.  
 
John is a Chartered Accountant having previously 
worked for Ernst and Young, Boots, Advantage West 
Midlands and Business Link. John has also previously 
been the Managing Director of the Education supplies 
and Procurement organisation, ESPO and Chief 
Executive of Loughborough College. 

 
John is strong advocate of the role that housing 
associations play in supporting their customers and 

communities to become the best they can be.  
 

Ursula Bennion 
Chief Executive 
 
 
Ursula has extensive sector experience, 
spanning a 25 year career in Housing. Ursula 
has worked in a wide variety of roles - from 
her very first job as a trainee Housing Officer, 
to being a Development Director and now as 

a Chief Executive.   
 
Ursula is passionate about working in partnership with, and 
supporting, Trent & Dove’s customers and stakeholders and is 
committed to  delivering quality services and homes for  Trent & 
Dove’s local communities.  
 
In her role as Chief Executive, Ursula supports the Board to 
ensure that the organisation has clear, strategic direction and 
strong leadership and she leads Trent & Dove’s Executive and 
Senior Management teams.  
 
Ursula is also an Executive Director of Trinity Housing 
Developments Limited and First Housing Limited, Trent & Dove’s 
two commercial operating subsidiaries.   
 
Outside of Trent & Dove, Ursula is the Chair of Opendoor Homes, 
part of The Barnet Group.  
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Board member retirements during the financial year ended 31 March 2022: 

Afzal Ismail 
Afzal retired from the Board on 30 
September 2021.    
 
Afzal was previously the Vice Chair of the 
Board, Chair of the Audit and Risk 
Assurance Committee and a member of 
the Governance and Remuneration 

Committee.  
 
Afzal is the Group Director of Corporate Services at Orbit, a 
large national housing group based in Coventry. Afzal is 
responsible for overseeing Orbit’s IT, business improvement 
and risk & compliance functions and also has responsibility 
for procurement strategy.  
 
Afzal is a Chartered Certified Accountant (FCCA), holds an 
honours degree in Mathematics and is a member of the 
Chartered Institute of Auditors (CMIIA) and Chartered 
Institute of Housing (CIHCM).  
 
Afzal is a Non-Executive Director of University Hospitals 
Coventry and Warwickshire NHS Trust and also serves on the 
Board of a large multi-academy schools trust. 
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Who we are and what we do: 

Trent & Dove Housing is a V1/G1-rated Registered Provider of Social Housing (a “Housing Association”) incorporated 

under the Cooperative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014.  We were formed in March 2001 following a Large-

Scale Voluntary Transfer from East Staffordshire Borough Council and for the past 21 years we have provided quality, 

affordable homes for rent, lease or shared ownership across East Staffordshire, South Derbyshire and North West 

Leicestershire.  

We currently have over 6,300 homes under management and provide a range of ancillary services aimed at supporting 

customers to access new skills, training or employment and combatting loneliness and social isolation. We are a non-

profit with social purpose objectives; any surplus we make is reinvested back into our organisation to continuously 

improve our services for customers and to support the work of our community partners and stakeholders. 

 

Trent & Dove is governed by our Board, which includes independent Non-Executive Directors (NEDs) and an Executive 

Director (our Chief Executive).  During the financial year, two of Trent & Dove’s NEDs were also customers of Trent & 

Dove, ensuring that customer voices are heard and represented in all of the Board’s decision-making. More 

information about our Board members can be found in the Board Biographies section of this report and more 

information about the work of our Board can be found in the Report of the Board.  

Finally, we believe that an organisation is only ever as good as the people it works with – and we work with some great 

people! With the support of our Local Authority partners and the charities and community groups where we operate, 

our committed and passionate involved customers, volunteers, colleagues, Board and Committee members aim to 

ensure Trent & Dove provide quality homes and services which make a real difference to peoples’ lives.  

We believe that housing is more than just bricks and mortar and our commitment to “Transforming homes, lives and 

communities” ensures that our strategic objectives contribute to creating thriving communities that people are proud 

to be a part of. 

Our Group Structure 

Trent & Dove Housing Limited has two commercial operating subsidiaries: 

 

• First Housing Limited, which we incorporated in 2008 and whose principal activity is the management of 21 

commercial shop units located in parades across Burton upon Trent and Uttoxeter; and  

• Trinity Housing Developments Limited, which was incorporated in March 2019 and whose principle activity 

is to provide design and build services to Trent & Dove Housing. 

 

More details about the activities of our subsidiaries can be found in the Annual Report and Financial Statements for 

each subsidiary - both of which are available on the Trent & Dove website. 
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The Management Team 
 

Executive Directors 
 

 

Chief Executive 
Resources Director 

Ursula Bennion  
Jan Griffiths  

Property Director 
Neighbourhoods Director 
 
Development Director 

Mark Gormley 
Rachel Chudley (resigned 20.05.22) 
Martyn Hale (appointed 23.06.22) 
Charlie Riley 

  
Company Secretary Catherine Slater  

 

General Information 
 
Registered Office 

 
 
Horninglow Street 
Burton upon Trent 
Staffordshire DE14 1BL 
 

Auditor KPMG LLP 
 One Snow Hill 

Snow Hill Queensway 
 Birmingham B4 6GH 
  
Principal Legal Adviser Anthony Collins Solicitors 
 134 Edmund Street 
 Birmingham B3 2ES 
  
Funder and Principal Banker Lloyds Bank plc 
 PO Box 908 
 125 Colmore Row 
 Birmingham B3 2DS 
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3 Report of the Chair 
 

 

Welcome 

Welcome to our Annual Report and financial statement, for the year ended 31st March 2022. This report also marks 

the end of our current five-year Strategic Plan. It has been a productive year; both pushing to achieve the targets set 

and preparing for an exciting new chapter as we set out our ambitions for the next five years. 

Challenges and changes, for the better 

Overshadowed by the pandemic, 2021/22, was shaped by the ongoing and unknown lasting effects Covid has had on 

us all. I am pleased to report that Trent & Dove has continued to respond to our customer’s changing needs. Despite 

the varied stages of restrictions, we still delivered services which were generally in line with our plans and, importantly, 

our customer’s expectations.  

The sector continues to face increasing challenges and demands; key developments that include a new code of 
governance, the Social Housing White Paper “The Charter for Social Housing residents” in response to the Grenfell 
tragedy, and the very challenging targets set by the Government in the Net Zero Strategy. 
 
The last two years have demonstrated how Trent & Dove is able to respond to fast-moving changes in the world around 

us, ensuring we continue to provide a great customer experience whilst also taking advantage of the opportunities 

that emerge. Over the next few years, the need for organisations to quickly adapt will remain essential. 

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank our customers, community partners, contractors and colleagues for their 

patience and tenacity as we continue to adapt and make adjustments to the way we live, work and support each other. 

 

Louder & Stronger 
 
Since our creation in 2001, customers have always played a significant role in making sure that we are making long-
term strategic decisions from which existing and future customers will benefit. 
 
In 2020, the Board commissioned an independent review of how it hears from and understands messages from our 
customers.  From the outset, the Board’s ambition was to extend opportunities for customers to share their views 
and improve the way in which Trent & Dove responds to customer feedback. The evaluation concluded that there 
are many aspects of our existing approach which were strong, but also compelling reasons for strengthening the way 
in which we listen to and engage with customers.  
 
Approved by the Board in November 2021, our new Customer Voice Strategy takes account of the different 
relationships we have with people and organisations both as a landlord and through our contribution to thriving 
communities (place shaping). It is known as ‘Louder & Stronger’ to demonstrate our commitment to hearing the 
voice of our customers.  
 
‘Louder & Stronger’ aims to make a positive difference by providing our customers with the appropriate channels to 
provide feedback to us and scrutinise the services that we provide. This has further underpinned the commitment 
the Board have made to ensuring that we listen to residents, act on what they tell us, and put things right when they 
go wrong.  
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Our new customer voice strategy includes seven elements which reflects the breadth of the relationship that we have 
with our customers. These are: 
 

• Governance 

• Scrutiny 

• Insight and data 

• Complaints  

• Residents’ associations  

• Community grants 

• Community activities  
 
Whilst the Board is responsible for ensuring that there is a strong customer focus, our new Customer Committee will 
enable the Board to gain assurance that the views of all customers are being listened to and, where appropriate, acted 
upon. This is further strengthened by Trent & Dove’s adoption of the NHF Code of Governance 2020. The Board has 
committed to ensuring that the needs and safety of Trent & Dove’s current and future residents and other customers 
are placed at the heart of the Board’s decision-making. 

 

The Board’s aspirations and plans for future 

Having overseen the delivery of the 2017-22 Strategic Plan, I am delighted to report that in the last 5 years: 

• We have delivered 812 much needed new homes 

• We have developed and expanded our supporting services such as the community gardening project, jobs 

clubs, befriending service, and community café’s, all of which enable people and communities to thrive.  

• Our volunteers have undertaken 35,561 volunteering hours 

• 1.53% of revenue has been invested to our communities. 

We welcome the Regulator of Social Housing’s draft Tenant Satisfaction Measures, which went under consultation in 

December 2021. Increased quality and use of personal insight about residents and communities are essential to make 

sure we understand and respond to the profile of the people we serve. To improve our services, we will involve 

customers as detailed in our Customer Voice Strategy, learn from their experience and perspectives and act on their 

compliments, complaints and feedback, including any directions by the Housing Ombudsman Service. 

Whilst this report primarily looks back at the previous year, we hope you’ll enjoy a quick look forward at our new 

Strategic Plan. The next five years are a decisive period in our growth and development as a housing provider and 

place shaper. The new Strategic Plan sets out our aims to continuously improve our business and, with our partners, 

achieve more for customers, communities and colleagues. It details our commitment to sustainable growth and 

regeneration – making best use of our assets to build the right homes in the right places to meet customers’ needs, 

while making existing homes fit for a secure, low-carbon future.  

Changes to the Board  
 
During the financial year, the Board said farewell to Board member Afzal Ismail, who retired as a NED on 30 September 

2021. The Board would like to thank Afzal for his contribution to the organisation during a key period in the 

organisation’s development, and for his commitment and dedication to his roles as Vice Chair of the Board and Chair 

of the Audit & Risk Assurance Committee.   

Following an extensive recruitment process, I am pleased to welcome John Doherty who replaced Afzal and joined the 

Board as a Non-executive director on 1 October 2021. John is currently the Chief Executive at Entrust Support Services 

and brings with him a wealth of experience – you can read more about John’s background in the Board Biographies 

section starting on page 1. John is a strong advocate of the role that housing associations play in supporting their 

customers and communities to become the best they can be. 
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In line with the new Customer Voice Strategy, the Board’s Operations Committee will be disbanded in Q1 2022/23, 

and a new ‘Customer Committee’ will form. The Customer Committee will focus on matters which directly relate to 

customer experience, engagement and insight. This will enable the Board to understand and hear the ‘Customer Voice’ 

more clearly. I’d like to personally thank all of the Members of the Operations Committee for their dedicated service; 

Mark Ashby, Anita Wanowicz, Katarzyna Goleniowska, Alz Coates, Ian Moore and Ivanhoe Douglas. They have been 

invaluable to the organisation, and I truly appreciate the significant contributions they have made. 

At the end of September 2022, Gary Middleton will be retiring from the Board. Gary has been a member of the Board 

for 7 years, and during this time Gary has also been Trent & Dove’s Senior Independent Director, the Chair of the 

Board’s Governance and Remuneration Committee and a member of the Board’s Audit and Risk Assurance Committee. 

Gary has utilised his significant knowledge and experience of treasury, financial and regulatory matters for the benefit 

of our customers and communities.  His commitment and passion to provide quality, affordable and social housing has 

remained undiminished during his term of office.  Gary will be greatly missed by his Board colleagues.   

And finally… 

At the end of September 2022, I will end my tenure as Chair of the Board. It has been a privilege and a pleasure to 

serve as chair of Trent & Dove, and I am immensely proud of what we have managed to achieve together in my time.  

Trent & Dove is a positive and effective organisation, with the appropriate skills within the organisation to not only 

respond to, but successfully deliver, our new 5-year strategic plan. I am confident that I will be leaving Trent & Dove 

in a strong position, with engaged tenants, a skilled Board and Executive Management Team and a G1/V1 regulatory 

rating. 

I wish Trent & Dove Housing every success for the future. 

 

 

 

Mark Lewis  

Chair of the Board 
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4 Report from the Chief Executive  

Introduction 

2021/22 was set against another challenging backdrop. Organisations, such as Trent & Dove, look to better prepare 

for “black swan” events, ensuring that they’re in a more robust place to respond effectively and quickly should the 

need arise. As we find ourselves in unprecedented times, where we have seen multiple such events happen in a short 

space of time, I am immensely proud of how our colleagues have continued to rally together. Not only did they support 

our customers and communities in which we serve but providing support for each other when it was most needed. 

In year we were delighted to receive confirmation that, following the Regulator of Social Housing’s latest assessment, 

Trent & Dove had again retained our G1/V1 rating. The result bears testament to the hard work of all our colleagues, 

our Board and our involved customers and, as we launch our Strategic Plan for the next 5 years, provides a strong 

foundation for us to build upon. 

As we continue to see a return to what’s being referred to as the ‘new normal’ the measured lifting of restrictions saw 

the gradual return of ‘in-person’ meetings. This enabled us to, belatedly, celebrate Trent & Dove’s 21st Birthday. The 

day was spent reconnecting with each other, looking back at our achievements over the past 21 years, celebrating the 

hard work and dedication colleagues at Trent & Dove demonstrate on a daily basis, and also sharing our vision for the 

next five years in our 2022-2027 Strategic Plan. 

The return to public gatherings also enabled us to celebrate our local heroes for their selfless commitment to making 

the lives of others better during 2021. Our 16th Annual Impact on Community Awards, in Partnership with Burton 

Albion Community Trust, was hosted by Rory Bremner. The night recognised the fundamental work carried out by 

individual people, organisations and local businesses. I would like to thank all our partners who have sponsored the 

event, whose generosity enables us to celebrate these remarkable achievements, in particular Savills, who were the 

headline sponsor. 

Transforming Homes 

Responding to climate change has sparked much debate, but one thing is clear, as a social housing provider we have 

an important role to play. Trent & Dove are participating in the pilot of the Government’s Social Housing 

Decarbonisation Fund (SHDF) with 32 homes receiving a range of energy efficiency measures, such as external wall 

insulation and new doors and windows, as well as tailored advice and support around their energy use. The pilot has 

provided valuable learning for future funding applications and our asset investment programmes, receiving positive 

feedback from customers.  

The Association is also looking at the impact its overall operations and activity has on the environment. During the 

year we undertook an exercise to measure our carbon footprint and are currently looking at ways to reduce this in the 

medium and long term. 

2000th Home 

During year we built our 2000th home developed by Trent & Dove since the organisation started its development 

programme in 2004/05. It is very important to us that not only are we building a large quantity of homes that help 

people into affordable accommodation, but that we are building the right type of homes, in the right places. The new 

development milestone was reached thanks to Trent & Dove’s partnership with Orbit, as part of Orbit’s original grant 

awarded through the government’s Affordable Homes Programme. A new grant agreement announced in September 

2021 will provide funding for Trent & Dove to develop around 236 homes with Orbit by 2028. 
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To ensure we can continue to deliver a mix of truly affordable properties which reflect the diverse needs of our 

communities, Trent & Dove secured £55m of funding from bLEND, which is a subsidiary of The Housing Finance 

Corporation (THFC). The funds will enable key regeneration sites in and around Burton upon Trent to be developed 

and will support the local economy through the provision of work for local small and medium sized builders. 

Commitment to the governments Levelling Up agenda and making sure that we have enough affordable homes in our 

region is a priority for Trent & Dove and means that we can continue to Transform Homes, Lives and Communities for 

our customers. 

Transforming Lives & Communities 

The conflict in Ukraine sparked a world-wide humanitarian aid project, which saw colleagues across Trent & Dove 

going above and beyond, donating goods and supporting community groups to deliver over 13 tonnes of much needed 

medical supplies. 

Supporting services  

Working alongside East Staffordshire Borough Council, in April 2021 we launched the Next Steps Accommodation 

project. This project plays a pivotal role in supporting people who are currently living in temporary accommodation. 

The project aims to put in place the necessary support, tailored to their individual needs, that will enable people to 

gain their independence and to live in one of our properties permanently in the future.  

Health & Safety 

In year we achieved our 13th consecutive gold RoSPA award and came highly commended in the National Public Service 

& Local Government Sector Health & Safety Awards which is an outstanding achievement.  

It is my pleasure to share with you that our Health & Safety work undertaken in 2021 has been recognised at the 2022 

RoSPA Awards. We have been awarded gold in the Public Service and Local Government award category, going on to 

win the top honour: the Sir George Earle Trophy. This is an annual prize which recognises the best entry in the RoSPA 

Health and Safety Awards with entrants from across the globe. 

The judging panel noted our “highly engaged, driven approach to continually developing health and safety systems 

that went above and beyond in the pursuit of protecting colleagues, whilst positively impacting Trent & Dove’s tenants 

and their families.”  

We are absolutely delighted to be awarded the Sir George Earle Trophy, which is a remarkable accolade for a small 

social housing provider. I would like to join Anna Hickman, Head of Health & Safety, in congratulating the Health & 

Safety team and thank them for their years of hard work and dedication. Our thanks also go out to the colleagues at 

Trent & Dove who continually strive to improve and innovate.     

With thanks… 

I’d like to thank the Executive Management Team and my fellow Management Board Members, past and present for 

the significant contributions they have made in leading the organisation and driving change and innovation. 

Thanks also to Mark Lewis for the dedication, and leadership that he has shown as Chair of the Board over the last 7 

years. Mark has played a key role in Trent & Dove throughout the years, sharing his expertise and knowledge to help 

us get to where we are today. We are very thankful to Mark for his continued support and wish him all the best in his 

retirement from Trent & Dove’s board in September. 
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I would like to take the opportunity to thank all of my colleagues at Trent & Dove for their efforts and commitment 

during what are continually challenging times for the sector. I look forward with a sense of optimism at what we will 

achieve together over the next 5 years. 

 

 

 

 

Ursula Bennion 

Chief Executive 
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5 The Report of the Board 

“The Board is responsible for the long-term stewardship of the organisation and for directing and overseeing its 
activities to make sure that homes and services are provided which meet the needs of our customers now, and into 
the future. To achieve this, the Board recognises its wider duty to care for the interests of customers, colleagues and 
stakeholders by maintaining a strong focus on governance and risk management and firmly embedding these 
principles in our organisational culture”. 

Mark Lewis, Chair 

The Role of the Board  

The Board is responsible for leading the organisation, setting its strategic priorities and determining its Mission, Values 
and Social Purpose. To achieve this, the Board recognises its wider duty of stewardship - to care for the interests of 
the organisation’s customers, colleagues and stakeholders by: 

a)  maintaining a strong focus on governance, risk management, financial viability, and Value for Money; and 
b)  firmly embedding these principles as part of our organisational culture.  

 
During the 2021/22 financial year, the Board reaffirmed its commitment to the organisation’s mission of “transforming 
homes, lives and communities”.  These objectives guided the Board’s decision-making, set the operational context for 
its leaders and directed the activities of our colleagues, volunteers, partners and contractors.  
 
The Board is responsible for making sure that the organisation has effective leadership and that its leaders have the 

resources they need to achieve the Board’s strategic objectives, bearing in mind wider Value for Money (VfM) 

considerations. Each year, the Board reviews progress against its Strategic Plan, Business Plan (Financial Plan) and 

Budget and continuously monitors the organisation’s activities for risks which could impact its ability to function 

effectively. The Board does this by reviewing performance information (including Key Performance Indicators), 

financial reporting and strategic risk management information at every Board meeting.   

The Board discharges some of its responsibilities directly, and delegates others to its three Board committees and its 
Executive and senior management teams. The Terms of Reference for the Board and each Board Committee set out 
the role and purpose of each group and the matters which they are authorised to review, recommend to the Board or 
approve.  The Board receives regular reporting from: 

• each Board Committee on the matters they have discharged under their Terms of Reference; and  

• from the Chief Executive and Executive Directors, to explain how they have used their delegated authorities 
to achieve the objectives set for them by the Board.  

 

Board and Committee structure and composition  

T&D’s Governance structure at the end of March 2022 is shown in Fig. 1.  
 
Reports from the Chair of each Board Committee can be found on pages 26, 29 and 33 and they set out the functions 
and activities which were discharged by each Committee during the 2021/22 financial year in line with their Terms of 
Reference. 
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Fig 1 – Trent & Dove’s Governance Structure at 31 March 2022 

 
As of 31 March 2022, the Board had 11 members; 10 Non-Executive Directors and one Executive Director (Trent & 

Dove’s Chief Executive). More information about the background, skills and experience of each Board member can be 

found in section 1 of this report (‘Board Member Biographies’).  The majority of Trent & Dove’s Non-Executive 

Directors are independent in nature, character and judgment and had no prior links or associations with Trent & Dove 

prior to their appointment.  Two of Trent & Dove’s Non-Executive Directors are customers of Trent & Dove and 

contribute their “direct lived experience” of the communities served by the organisation.   

The Board is assisted by the Company Secretary, who provides advice on governance, legal and regulatory matters 
and by external advisors, including the organisation’s internal and external auditors. The Board make decisions by 
working together and achieving a consensus. Although Executive Directors participate at Board meetings to present 
performance reports, their main responsibility is for executing the Board’s decisions with respect to strategy, capital 
expenditure and operational priorities. 
 
As of the end of March 2022, the Board’s key forum for customer involvement, engagement and consultation was the 
Operations Committee. Comprising wholly of Trent & Dove customers, the Operations Committee played a key role in 
scrutinising service delivery and performance.  During the 2021/22 financial year, it was supported in this task by the 
Tenant Scrutiny Forum, a customer working group which conducted in-depth service reviews and reported their 
findings back to the Operations Committee for consideration. More information about the role and work of the 
Operations Committee, and the service reviews carried out by the Tenant Scrutiny Forum, during the financial year 
can be found on page 33 (the ‘Report of the Operations Committee’).  
 
During 2021/22, the Board developed and approved a new Customer Voice Strategy in direct response to the 
Government’s Social Housing White Paper and the introduction of the new NHF Code of Governance (2020).  The new 
Strategy emphasises the Board’s continuing commitment to involving and engaging customers in T&D’s governance 
structure and it contains a number of new measures which have been designed to enable the Board to hear the 
‘customer voice’ clearly and incorporate customer insight and feedback it in its strategic decision-making.   

The Board
Are responsible for leading the
organisation and setting its
Strategic direction and
priorities.

Governance & 
Remuneration 

Committee
Are responsible for making sure that the
organisation meets the Governance
requirements set by our Regulator and
for overseeing the remunertion of all
paid colleagues, including Board
members and Executive Directors.

See page 29 for more information about
the role and work of this committee
during the financial year.

Audit & Risk Assurance 
Committee

Are responsible for making sure that
there is a risk management and internal
control framework in place and
operating effectively. Also appoints, and
oversees the work of, the organisation's
internal and external auditors.

See page 26 for more information about
the role and work of this committee
during the financial year.

Operations Committee
Comprising solely of Trent & Dove
Customers, the role of this committee is
to review and monitor how services are
being delivered by reviewing
performance data, cost information and
service review data provided via Tenant
Scrutiny activities. As Trent & Dove's key
forum for tenant involvement and
engagement, the Committee and its
members play a key role in holding
management to account.

See page 33 for more information about
the role and work of this committee
during the financial year
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To develop the new Customer Voice Strategy, the Board involved a number of T&D’s key stakeholders – including 
customers, colleagues and Board members. Following recommendation from the “Customer Voice Working Group”, 
the Board agreed to disband its current Operations Committee – which currently has a broad remit focused on matters 
relating to operational performance and service delivery and replace it with a new “Customer Committee”, which will 
have a more focused remit and concentrate on matters which directly shape customer experience, insight and service 
delivery.    
 
The new Customer Committee will consist predominantly of T&D customers (i.e. tenants, Shared Owners and 
Leaseholders) who will contribute and share their “direct lived experience” of T&D’s homes and services. The 
Committee’s membership will also include: 

• Two Independent Committee members - who will contribute either specific skills or expertise in customer 
engagement and insight or who will represent T&D’s community partners; and  

• Two Board members - whose role will be to act as advocates for the Committee and represent the Committee’s 
views at Board level.   

The Chair of the new Committee will be a customer member of the Committee and they will also become a NED of 
T&D, to ensure the customer voice is strongly represented in the Board’s decision-making.   The new Customer 
Committee will begin its work at the beginning of July 2022.  
 
More information about the Board’s new Customer Voice Strategy, its aims and how the Strategy was developed can 
be found in the Reports of the Chair and the Chief Executive, starting on page 7. 
 

Board tenure and membership during the financial year 
 
All NEDs are appointed for an initial term of three years. Reappointment following the initial term is not automatic 
and NEDs are required to satisfy continuing independence and performance-related criteria before they are appointed 
for a second, three-year term. Any term beyond six years is subject to rigorous annual review which considers the 
need to progressively refresh the Board in order to maintain its independence.  As of 31 March 2022, the longest-
serving member of the Board is the Chair of the Operations Committee, who will have served 7 years 9 months in post 
when they retire from the Board at the end of June 2022.  
 
During the financial year, the Board said farewell to Board member Afzal Ismail, who retired as a NED on 30 September 

2021. The Board would like to thank Afzal for his contributions to the organisation during a key period in the 

organisation’s development, and for his commitment and dedication to his roles as Vice Chair of the Board and Chair 

of the Audit & Risk Assurance Committee.   

During the summer of 2021, the Board recruited a new NED, John Doherty, who joined the Board on 1 October 2021.  

John also joined the Board’s Audit & Risk Assurance Committee as a member. More information about John and his 

skills and background, can be found in the Board Biographies section, starting on page 1.  

During their tenure, all Board members are expected to continuously develop their skills, knowledge and experience 
so that they can continue to make informed contributions to Board discussions. T&D supports this by offering access 
to independent professional advice and by encouraging Board members to attend conferences, training days, 
workshops, Strategy Days and ‘back to shop floor’ sessions with operational teams. 
 

Time Commitment and NED’s Other Significant Commitments 
 
The time commitment required from NEDs is currently between 16 and 20 days per annum. This includes attendance 
at Board and Committee meetings, preparation for meetings and participation in Board Strategy Days.  
 
The Board formally meet six times a year, holding at least four Board meetings and two Strategy Days. Each Board 
committee meets quarterly to discharge their duties and responsibilities under their Terms of Reference. Fig. 2 shows 
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each Board member’s attendance at Board and Committee meetings during the 2021/22 financial year, out of the 
total number of Board and Committee meetings that each Board member was eligible to attend.  

 
Each Board meeting has a planned agenda with 
key areas such as strategy, risk management 
and financial viability discussed. Meetings 
often include themed workshops or strategy 
presentations and these help to continually 
improve the operational knowledge of the 
Board and provide context to inform its 
decision-making. Input from professional 
experts or external advisors is also sought by 
the Board when necessary and helps to 
supplement their knowledge of technical, legal, 
audit or accountancy matters.  
 
The other significant commitments of the Chair and NEDs were disclosed to the Board before their appointment and 
are summarised in the Board Biographies section, starting on page 1.  There were no occasions during the financial 
year where the Board considered that a Board member’s external commitments interfered with, or impeded, their 
ability to exercise their duties and responsibilities effectively.  Declarations of interest are reviewed by the Board in 
detail on an annual basis and are also noted at the start of each Board Meeting. Board members abstain from 
discussions or decision-making where an actual or perceived conflict may exist. 
 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) 
 
The Board’s current EDI profile is set out in figure 3.   The Board 
has an active commitment to achieving equality of opportunity, 
diversity and inclusion in all the organisation’s activities, as well 
as in its own composition. The Board has policies which 
meaningfully demonstrate this commitment and it sets priorities 
and objectives for the organisation to achieve.  The Board seeks 
regular assurance about how these commitments and objectives 
are being met in practice and tracks progress against the 
priorities it has set.    
 
During 2021/22, this has involved: 
 

a) The organisation reviewing its existing Equality and Fairness Policy and turning it into a new EDI Strategy, to 
support the delivery of the Board’s new 2022-27 Strategic Plan.  The new Strategy sets a number of key EDI 
priorities for the organisation during 2022/23 and beyond, including: 
 

• Reviewing the data fields we collect, and how we collect data, so that we can record useful EDI 
information in relation to our customers and colleagues (with their consent and knowledge) and use 
this information to shape decision-making; 

• Ensuring that EDI is embedded in all our key organisational policies in order to establish a ‘golden 

thread’ back to the commitments set out in the organisation’s EDI Strategy; 

• Establishing EDI champions throughout the business who will meet on a quarterly basis. Together, this 

group will encourage conversations and organisational learning and development around EDI and will 

tackle issues relating to inequality when they are identified; 

• Committing to the five “Disability Confident” principles – a set of initiatives set out by Disability 

Confident, a Government-led scheme which helps employers to recruit disabled colleagues; 
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• Continuing to train our colleagues, via the use of mandatory training, to enable them to gain an 

understanding and appreciation of EDI issues and how they apply in the workplace; and 

• Reviewing volunteer pathways to encourage the involvement of all sections of the community in 

T&D’s volunteering programmes, including exploring how volunteering opportunities can be offered 

outside of standard working hours.   

 
b) The Board reviewing how it can continue to include EDI considerations in its recruitment and succession 

activities in order to continuously improve EDI in its own composition.  
 
In particular, the Board have identified that there are number of EDI areas where the Board are under-
represented, in particular with respect to gender, younger age groups and ethnicity. To combat this, the Board 
have: 

▪ Introduced, and committed to the use of, blind long-listing and shortlisting techniques in all its Board 
and Committee recruitment processes. This requirement has been codified in the Board’s Recruitment 
and Succession Policy, which was last reviewed and reapproved by the Board in May 2021; 

▪ Committed to increasing the accessibility and inclusivity of all Board and Committee roles by 
employing targeted advertising techniques across a broad range of print and social media; 

▪ Committed to working in partnership with sector and non-sector organisations and groups aimed at 
promoting the inclusion of under-represented groups at Board and senior leadership level, including 
Women in Social Housing and the Housing Diversity Network; 

▪ Committed to exploring ways in which the organisation can support and train aspiring Board and 
Committee members from under-represented or underprivileged backgrounds to access Board and 
Committee roles, in order to start to build a future pipeline of potential Board and Committee 
candidates.  

 
The Board will continue to maintain EDI as a key area of strategic focus during 2022/23 and in the development and 
implementation of its 2022-27 Strategic Plan and will report its progress against the EDI objectives it has set on an 
annual basis. 

 
Development of new 2022-27 Strategic Plan 
 
Trent & Dove prides itself on being a ‘PlaceShaper’ – a housing association with a commitment to local focus and to 
the communities where we operate.  
 
In May 2022, the Board approved a new and ambitious Strategic Plan which reaffirmed the organisation’s Mission “to 
provide homes and services that enable people and communities to thrive” and set out our organisational objectives 
and targets for the next five years (2022-27). 
 
You can find a copy of our new five-year Strategic Plan on the T&D website, but broadly the Plan is based on three key 
Values: 
 
People: Putting people first 

• We listen to people and treat them with dignity and respect; 

• We consider the impact of what we do on everyone; and 

• We enable people to thrive individually and as part of their community. 
 

Our culture is focused on putting our customers at the heart of our decision-marking and on supporting, training and 

empowering our colleagues to become the best that they can be. 
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We do this by: 

• providing excellent homes, services and support for communities; 
• helping customers to achieve their ambitions and aspirations; 
• developing our colleagues, and the skills of our involved customers; 
• building strong relationships with customers, communities and other partner agencies. 

 
We want the experience of everyone who connects with Trent & Dove to be constructive. Whether this involves living 

in a home we provide, benefitting from our services or working or volunteering for us.  We aim to offer choice and 

opportunity in order to be a consistent, positive presence in the areas where we operate.  

Purpose: Having a clear purpose to what we do 

• We are committed to providing affordable and sustainable homes for rent and sale; 

• We provide services to help support people in their homes; and 

• We are committed to reducing our impact on the environment. 
 

Since we were formed in 2001, we have remained true to our organisational strapline of “transforming homes, lives 

and communities”. We are proud to be a PlaceShaper housing association; one who invests in the health, wellbeing, 

community and social fabric that enables customers, colleagues and communities to thrive. 

Performance: Achieving excellent performance to enable us to deliver our purpose 

• We work together and with our partners to achieve all our goals; 

• We deliver value for money and positive social impact; and 

• We continuously improve what we do. 
 

Achieving our mission depends upon us being a financially secure, well-governed, commercially and environmentally 

aware organisation that delivers high-quality homes, employment and services. These are the foundations for the 

growth and sustainability that we will deliver over the life of our new five-year Strategic Plan and beyond. 

During 2022-23, the Board will focus on delivering the key targets and objectives in year 1 of the new Strategic Plan 
and the key outcomes will be reported in our Annual Report & Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 
March 2023.  
 

Statement of Compliance with the RSH Regulatory Standards  
 
All Registered Providers of Social Housing must comply with the outcomes and specific expectations set out in the 
Regulator of Social Housing’s Regulatory Standards. These include: Governance and Financial Viability, Value for 
Money, Rent, Tenant Involvement and Empowerment, Home, Tenancy and Neighbourhood and Community. More 
information about the content and purpose of each Regulatory Standard can be found on the website for the Regulator 
of Social Housing.  
 
One of the core Regulatory Standards is the Governance and Financial Viability Standard, which requires Registered 
Providers of Social Housing to have effective governance arrangements in place that “deliver their aims, objectives and 
intended outcomes for tenants and potential tenants in an effective, transparent and accountable manner”. It also 
requires RPs to “manage their resources effectively, to make sure their viability is maintained whilst ensuring that 
social housing assets are not put at undue risk”.  
 
Approximately every four years all Registered Providers of Social Housing are inspected by the Regulator of Social 
Housing to make sure that they continue to meet the requirements of the Governance & Financial Viability Standard.   
Inspections are known as “In-Depth Assessments” (IDAs) and RPs receive regulatory gradings based on their 
compliance with the requirements of the Standard.  Trent & Dove participated in its last IDA during the 2018/19 
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financial year and were awarded the highest possible compliance gradings of G1 for Governance and V1 for Financial 
Viability. T&D’s next IDA will take place during May to August 2022.  
 
Each year the Regulator requires RPs to assess their compliance against the Governance and Financial Viability 
Standard and provide assurance to customers and stakeholders that the Regulator’s expectations continue to be met.   
Following the organisation’s annual review of compliance, the Board are pleased to confirm that for the year ended 
31 March 2022, Trent & Dove complied with all applicable outcomes and specific expectations of the Governance 
and Financial Viability Standard and its accompanying Code of Practice.  
 
In addition, the organisation also reviewed its compliance with the other Regulatory Standards prescribed by the 
Regulator of Social Housing and the Board are satisfied that the requirements of all seven of the Regulatory 
Standards are being met in full by the organisation.   
 

Statement of Compliance with our adopted Code of Governance 
Trent & Dove’s adopted code of Governance is the National Housing Federation (NHF) Code of Governance, which is 
the most adopted Code in the social housing sector. In November 2020, the NHF published an updated version of the 
Code of Governance and in February 2021 the Trent & Dove Board agreed to adopt the 2020 version of the Code, 
which came into force on 1 April 2022.   
 
In its Governance Framework, the T&D Board have considered and determined the extent to which the NHF Code of 
Governance should apply to each of its subsidiaries. The Board have agreed that the NHF Code of Governance (2020) 
does not apply to T&D’s two commercial subsidiaries, First Housing Limited and Trinity Housing Developments Limited 
for the following reasons: 

a) As Private Limited Companies, neither First Housing Limited nor Trinity Housing Developments Limited are 
Housing Associations, for which the NHF Code of Governance is specifically designed; 

b) T&D’s subsidiaries are profit-making Limited Companies, registered with Companies House. The statutory 
provisions of the Companies Act (1985 and 2006) therefore apply to each company; 

c) Both subsidiaries have simple governance structures with small Boards (i.e. 3 Board members, including the 
T&D CEO), no employees and modest turnovers. The time-cost of demonstrating full governance compliance 
with this Code would therefore be unduly onerous and prohibitive for the management and governance 
structures of both entities 

 
During 2021/22 the Board has worked to achieve alignment of the Trent & Dove’s governance processes with the new 
requirements of the NHF Code of Governance 2020 and more information about how the organisation has done this 
can be found in the Report of the Governance & Remuneration Committee, starting on page 29.  
 
Each year the Board reviews the organisation’s compliance with the NHF Code of Governance in order to assure itself 
that the principles and provisions of the Code are being met in full.    During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, 
the Board is satisfied that T&D has complied with all relevant principles and provisions of the NHF Code of 
Governance (2020). 
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Risk Management and Internal Control 

Trent & Dove’s Risk Management framework is designed to improve the likelihood of achieving our strategic objectives 
whilst: 

a) protecting the interests of our customers, partners and stakeholders;   
b) enhancing the quality and integrity of our decision-making; and  
c) safeguarding our customers, colleagues and assets - including our money, property and reputation. 

 
The Board is responsible for reviewing and approving the organisation’s risk management framework and for 
identifying the key strategic and emerging risks which could impact the way we operate.   The Board retains 
responsibility for setting Risk Management policy, monitoring how the Risk Management framework operates and 
determining the level and nature of the risks it allows the organisation to be exposed to.  
 
The Board defines its approach or ‘appetite’ for taking risk on an annual basis; carefully identifying the amount and 
extent of the risk it will tolerate in key operational areas. The Board sets strict governance and financial risk appetite 
parameters called ‘Risk Tolerances’, inside which all financial and operational decision-making must be undertaken by 
the organisation.  
 
The Board’s Audit and Risk Assurance Committee (ARAC) play a key supporting role in helping the Board to 
continuously monitor the effectiveness of the Risk Management Framework and the performance of the Board’s Risk 
Tolerances. ARAC monitors the integrity of the organisation’s internal control framework and manages and oversees 
the audit process, including the appointment of internal and external auditors and the production and integrity of the 
organisation’s Annual Report and Financial Statements.  
 
More information about ARAC’s role and how it discharges its responsibilities can be found in the ‘Report of the Audit 

& Risk Assurance Committee’ starting at page 26.  
 

Our approach to Risk Management 
 
The Board acknowledges that no activity is free from risk. Our approach to risk management focuses on early 
identification of key risks and pro-active response, so we can reduce the likelihood of uncontrolled risk having a 
detrimental impact on the achievement of the organisation’s strategic objectives. 
 
In order to pursue opportunity, and deliver our strategic objectives, 
our organisational approach is to be risk aware but not risk averse. 
We seek to identify the threats we face in our operating 
environment - such as threats to our operating model, future 
performance, solvency and liquidity - so we can take measured and 
responsive action to control detrimental exposure.  
Our robust approach to risk management (Fig. 4) helps us to:  

• consistantly deliver high quality services and support to our 
customers without delay or disruption; 

• keep our customers, colleagues and partners safe; 

• provide homes and neighbourhoods which are safe, 
pleasant and healthy to live in; 

• protect and maintain our assets, adding value where we 
can;  

• meet our obligations to our funders and key stakeholders; 

• remain financially strong; 

• provide our colleagues with a great place to work. 
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During the financial year the Board continuously reviewed and strengthened its risk management processes and 
reporting capabilities so that risk can continue to be appropriately managed. To do this we: 

• continued to train our colleagues on operational risk management techniques and practice;  

• created a new operational risk forum at senior management level – the Risk and Assurance Group - to act as 
the key driving force behind review and scrutiny of operational risks; and  

• continued to develop our suite of reporting methodologies, including identification and review of key 
emerging risks.   

 
As with all Trent & Dove processes, we regularly review and assess our approach to risk management to ensure that 
it continues to meet the needs of the business and the expectations of our Regulator.  
 

How we manage risk 
 
Risk management is a “business as usual” activity for our Board, Executive and senior management team. We stress-
test our financial and operational plans at regular intervals using single and multi-variate testing and the Board’s Audit 
and Risk Assurance Committee reviews the performance and integrity of our internal control framework on a quarterly 
basis. 
 
We operate a holistic risk management system that is applied throughout the business, as set out in Fig 5. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
Our Principal Risks and Uncertainties during the financial year 
 
The Board’s ongoing review of principal (or strategic) risks ensures that the organisation remains equipped to mitigate 
its exposure to events that it cannot adequately predict or control.   At the start of each financial year, the Board 

Senior Management Risk Assurance Group 
✓ Champions the risk management framework and operational processes; 

✓ Reviews and provides assurance for the operational risks falling under their 

remit; 

✓ Reviews and provides assurance to EMT that the highest operational risks 

across the business are being effectively controlled and mitigated. 

 

Board 
✓ Has overall responsibility for the organisational approach to risk 

management and internal control; 

✓ Sets ‘Risk Appetite’ – how much risk our organisation is willing to accept in 

key areas; 

✓ Owns the Strategic Risk Register – a log of our principal risks and 

uncertainties; 

✓ Monitors the nature and extent of our exposure to our principal risks; 

✓ Receives assurance from the business that operational risks are being 

identified and controlled. 

 

Audit & Risk Assurance Committee (ARAC) 
✓ Has oversight of the risk management process; 

✓ Reviews performance of internal control and assurance framework; 

✓ Reviews reports from our internal and external auditors; 

✓ Provides quarterly assurance to the Board that an internal control framework 

is in place and operating effectively. 

Executive Management Team (EMT) 
✓ Reviews, and operationally manages, the Board’s Strategic Risk Register; 

✓ Receives assurance from the Senior Management Risk Assurance Group that 

operational risks are being effectively controlled and mitigated. 

All leaders and colleagues 
✓ Carry out risk identification, assessment and mitigation; 

✓ Follow the guidance and approaches set out in the Risk Management Policy; 

✓ Undergo risk management training to continuously improve their 

understanding of risk.  

 



Annual Report & Accounts for year ended 31 March 2022 
5. Report of the Board  

 

22 
 

reviews the principal strategic risks and uncertainties facing the organisation. The Board tracks and monitors the 
performance of these risks on an ongoing basis, receiving a Strategic Risk Performance Report to every Board meeting.     
 
During 2021/22, the Board considered that the principal risks and uncertainties impacting the organisation were as 
follows: 
 

Risk Why was this a risk for us? Key Controls 

Covid-19 
National 
Pandemic 

As a customer-facing organisation, the pandemic posed 
a number of operational challenges for the 
organisation in terms of being able to provide 
continuity of service provision to our customers 
(included those in supported housing settings) and 
being able to enter customers’ homes to undertake 
responsive or major works and undertake statutory 
compliance checks.  
 
Trent & Dove’s Crisis Management Plan was invoked at 
the end of March 2020 in response to the Covid-10 
National Pandemic and the government’s decision to 
invoke nationwide social-distancing measures to 
reduce virus transmission and manage the ability and 
capacity of the NHS to respond.  During 2021/22 the 
operational response to the pandemic was led by the 
Executive Management Team with strategic oversight 
from the Board. The organisational response included 
comprehensive review of T&D’s operational processes, 
including the implementation of new H&S protocols to 
keep colleagues and customers safe and the 
introduction of new agile working arrangements across 
the organisation.  
 
This risk maintained the Board’s focus on ensuring the 
organisation provided its services in ways which 
safeguarded the health & safety of colleagues, 
customers, service users, contractors and community 
partners.  
 

• Crisis Management Plan invoked, with 
organisational response strategically led by 
the Board and operationally led by 
Executive Management Team; 
 

• Monthly progress and performance 
reporting received by the Board, overseen 
by the Chief Executive; and 

 

• Impacts on business plan modelled as part 
of annual Stress-testing exercise and 
outcomes reported to the Board. 
 

Economic 
uncertainty 
causes 
pressure on 
the Business 
Plan 

This risk included the causes and consequences of both 
the COVID-19 pandemic, and the Government’s 
national ‘lock-down’ and lock-down easing measures, 
and Brexit, Britain’s exit from the European Union.  
 
During 2021/22 the Board recognised the importance 
of monitoring the wider economic and environmental 
threats posted by a prolonged economic recovery, 
increased inflation and potential recession, particularly 
in light of any potential impact on the targets and 
priorities set out in the Strategic Plan for 2021-22.  
 
This risk allowed the Board to monitor the internal 
controls in place to track economic changes and 
pressures and monitor their potential impacts on the 
key financial parameters set out in the 2021/22 
Business Plan.  
 

• Board review of Financial and Treasury 
Reporting to each Board meeting; 
 

• Board review of a sector horizon-scanning 
briefing at each Board meeting; 

 

• Board receiving sector and economic 
horizon-scanning presentations from 
external advisors every six months at 
Board Strategy Days.  
 

Death or 
serious injury 

Landlord H&S compliance remained a key sector risk 
for 2021/22 and it featured prominently in the RSH’s 

• Health & Safety, Compliance and 
Safeguarding policies and processes; 



Annual Report & Accounts for year ended 31 March 2022 
5. Report of the Board  

 

23 
 

Risk Why was this a risk for us? Key Controls 

to customers, 
colleagues or 
third parties. 
 

2020/21 Sector Risk Profile.   There were a number of 
key developments during 2021/22 which impacted the 
way that RPs needed to manage and maintain their 
stock and run services. As well as the ongoing Covid-19 
pandemic, these included:  

a) the outcomes from Phase 2 of the Grenfell 
Enquiry;   

b) the establishment of a new HSE “Safer 
Building Regulator” which, as a key outcome 
from Phase 1 of the Grenfell enquiry, is 
anticipated to bring more sanctions and 
responsibilities for the sector; and  

c) the progress of the new Building Safety and 
Fire Safety Bills through Parliament, which aim 
to introduce a new legislative regime for 
building and fire safety monitoring.  
 

The safety of T&D’s customers and colleagues is one of 
the Board’s highest priorities and this risk enabled the 
impact of each of the key changes above to be assessed 
as part of ongoing review of our health & safety 
policies, processes and systems and as part of the 
internal audit programme.  
 

 

• Mandatory Health & Safety and 
Safeguarding training for all leaders and 
colleagues in key roles; ongoing training 
and continuous professional development 
in landlord health & safety compliance for 
all front-line operatives. 

 

• Board quarterly review of H&S 
performance, including scrutiny of 
Landlord H&S, property compliance and 
Safeguarding KPIs; 

 

• EMT scrutiny of all H&S and Safeguarding 
incidents, including reporting of H&S 
‘Opportunities for Improvement’; 

 

• Quarterly review of Business-Critical 
Controls, including those for organisational 
and Landlord H&S compliance, by the 
Internal Auditor. 
 

We do not 
manage our 
assets to 
their full 
potential. 
 

A key Strategic Objective for the Board during 2019/20 
was the restatement of the organisation’s 5-year Asset 
Management Strategy and its associated Investment 
Plan. This was approved by the Board in September 
2020 and set out a number of key objectives for the 
organisation in two main areas; the continuous 
improvement of the responsive repairs and cyclical 
maintenance services and the additional investment in 
existing stock to ensure our properties continue to 
meet, and where possible exceed, MCHLG’s Decent 
Homes Standard.   
 
During 2021/22 delivering outstanding service by 
investing in existing homes and maintaining our 
compliance performance remained one of the Board’s 
core strategic objectives and this risk enabled the 
Board to track and monitor the implementation of key 
targets and objectives set out in the Asset Management 
Strategy.  
 

• Board ownership of Asset Management 
Strategy, and accompanying Investment 
Plan; 
 

• Quarterly performance reporting to Board, 
including oversight of key VfM and 
financial controls; 

 

• Board and committee monitoring of key 
Asset Management KPIs and performance 
statistics;  

 

• Quarterly review and testing of key asset 
management controls as part of internal 
audit process. 
 

We do not 
collect the 
optimum 
income 
attainable. 
 

Income collection remained a key risk for the 
organisation during 2021/22 as Universal Credit 
continued to be rolled out in Trent & Dove’s key 
operating areas and as the Covid-19 National Pandemic 
continued to put customers’ household incomes under 
significant strain.  
 
This risk allowed the Board to closely monitor arrears 
performance, in order to maximise the income 
available to support our business and strategic plans, 
enable our customers to sustain their tenancies and 

• Quarterly performance reporting to Board 
and oversight of key KPIs and performance 
metrics by Board and Operations 
Committee; monthly reporting to Board on 
Voids performance; 
 

• Stress-testing of the impact of higher 
arrears, bad debts and income reduction 
on our financial plan and budgets via a 
range of single and multi-variant scenarios; 
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Risk Why was this a risk for us? Key Controls 

provide the revenue streams which enable T&D to 
engage in its social impact and community initiatives. 

• Increased investment in learning and 
development to provide the right skills for 
colleagues to support customers facing 
reduced income; 

 

• Implementation of intervention measures 
aimed at encouraging prioritisation of rent 
payments and supporting customers in 
arrears; 

 

• Strengthening partnerships with 
organisations who could provide financial 
support and advice to our customers.  
 

Development 
programme is 
not delivered. 
 

Growth, by increasing the number of affordable homes 
in our region and reducing homelessness, remained 
one of the Board’s key strategic objectives for 2021-22. 
 
The Board continued to closely monitor the 7-year 
development target, first set in December 2017 and, in 
particular, the revised delivery targets set out in the 
2021/22 Business Plan. Whilst the Development 
Programme was impacted by COVID 19, this risk 
enabled the Board to remain focused on exploring and 
taking advantage of development opportunities in 
order to deliver its committed programme as the 
Government’s Covid-19 restrictions begin to ease. 
 
 
 

• Board ownership and approval of 
Development Strategy; 

 

• Reporting to each Board meeting on 
implementation of Strategy targets and 
deliverables; 

 

• Board review of key performance KPIs and 
performance outturn projections at each 
Board meeting; 

 

• Maintaining a pipeline of new land-led 
schemes; 

 

• Comprehensive horizon-scanning of our 
external operating environment for 
opportunities and threats, including rising 
inflation, availability of construction 
materials and labour and disruption to 
supply chains, housing market 
performance, mortgage availability, 
government policy and the researching 
and monitoring of new construction 
techniques. 
 

Benefits 
anticipated 
under ICT 
programme 
are not 
delivered 
/realised. 

During 2019/20 and 2020/21 the organisation made 
significant investments in continuously improving ICT 
infrastructure to modernise the way we work and help 
us to engage with our customers more effectively. 
 
During 2021/22 the Board continued their 
organisational focus on moving to “Cloud-based 
services” and technologies in order to realise efficiency 
savings and continuously improve the organisation’s 
approach to data integrity and cyber security.  Projects 
relating to implementing agile working across the 
business were identified as being key to meeting the 
organisation’s Value for Money targets during 2021/22 
and this risk enabled the Board to track its key priorities 
in this area.  
 

• Board setting and leading on development 
of ICT Transformation Strategy; 

 

• Performance monitoring to each Board 
meeting including project implementation 
and budget updates; 

 

• Board oversight of completed projects 
including benefits-realisation and VfM. 
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Internal Control 

The Board’s Audit and Risk Assurance Committee (ARAC) continuously monitors and reviews the effectiveness of the 

organisation’s internal control framework on behalf of the Board. It does this on a quarterly basis by reviewing 

‘Quarterly Assurance Reports’ at each meeting. 

Trent & Dove’s internal control framework is designed to: 

• effectively and comprehensively manage risk, rather than eliminate it entirely;  

• provide appropriate systems and processes for preventing and detecting fraud, financial loss, and loss of 

personal data belonging to customers, colleagues or third parties; 

• provide appropriate systems to prevent and detect the potential for harm to customers, colleagues and 

stakeholders, including putting appropriate health & safety and safeguarding protocols in place; and  

• provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material loss or misstatement.  

 

As part of its quarterly review of the internal control framework, ARAC receives assurance about: 

• risk performance and response, including confirmation that operational risk registers have been reviewed by 

each functional area; 

• the integrity of the internal control framework, including reports from internal and external auditors; 

• probity incidents, including any actual or suspected cases of fraud, money-laundering or financial impropriety; 

• statutory and regulatory compliance, including the organisation’s compliance with all relevant legal 

requirements and obligations; and 

• compliance with the organisation’s policy and financial control frameworks.  

 

Business Assurance and External Audit is an important way that ARAC obtains assurance that internal controls are in 

place and operating effectively. At the start of each financial year, our internal and external auditors work with us to 

put a work plan in place to review and test the controls in our most significant risk areas.  More information about the 

internal audits undertaken during the financial year can be found in the Report of the Audit & Risk Assurance 

Committee, starting on page 26.  

During the financial year ending 31 March 2022, no significant failings or weaknesses were identified by the Board, 

the Board’s Audit & Risk Assurance Committee or Trent & Dove’s internal or external auditors. The Board consider 

that a suitable framework of internal control was in place and operating effectively throughout the 2021/22 

financial year. 
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6 Report of the Audit & Risk Assurance Committee (‘ARAC’) 

 

“ARAC’s role is to provide assurance to the Board that internal controls are in place and 

operating effectively across the business in order to manage and mitigate the key risks 

the organisation faces. Central to this is ARAC’s role in overseeing and scrutinising the 

effectiveness of the organisation’s audit and risk management frameworks – and 

continuously improving these to strengthen organisational resilience”  

 Michael Finister-Smith, ARAC Chair 

Committee Role and Purpose 
 

The Committee has delegated authority from the Board of Trent & Dove Housing (“T&D”) for overseeing the implementation 

of the Board’s Risk Management Policy and for providing assurance to the Board that key internal controls are in place and 

operating effectively across the organisation. The Committee does this by overseeing and ensuring the effectiveness of the 

internal and external audit programmes and by monitoring the integrity of the financial reporting process.  

 

The Committee currently has four Non-Executive members; myself and my Board colleagues Geoff Prior, Rolf Levesley and 

John Doherty. I was appointed as Chair of the Committee on 1 October 2021, following the retirement of the Committee’s 

previous Chair (Afzal Ismail) at the end of September 2021. The Committee is supported operationally by key colleagues 

from the organisation’s governance and finance functions and by our internal and external auditors. The Committee is also 

able to access additional, independent professional advice whenever we feel this is necessary to help us discharge our duties 

on behalf of the Board.  

 

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Committee met four times as outlined in our Terms of Reference and 

attendance at these meetings is set out in the Report of the Board starting on page 13.  

 

Internal Audit and Business Assurance 
 

During 2021/22, ARAC were responsible for managing the relationship with T&D’s internal auditor, Beever & Struthers, who 

were appointed on 1 April 2021 for a period of four years following the retirement of T&D’s previous internal auditor, 

Mazars, at the end of March 2021.  The Internal Audit service provided by Beever & Struthers consists of quarterly ‘Business 

Critical Control Testing’, alongside individually scoped audits for specific operational processes or business areas.  

 

During the 2021/22 financial year, the internal auditor carried out Business Critical Control Testing in a number of key areas 

including HR, Finance, Property Compliance, Landlord Health & Safety, Voids Management and Development. In addition, 

audits were also undertaken for Data Governance, ICT Assets and Data Security, Rent Setting, Property Compliance, Repairs 

and Maintenance, Safeguarding and Development and Sales.  Each review provided ARAC with assurance regarding the 

suitability of the internal controls in place for managing operational risk in these areas, alongside recommendations for 

continuous improvement of operational processes.  

 

The Committee review the output reports prepared by the internal auditor at each meeting and monitor the 

recommendations raised to make sure that any proposed remedial actions are reasonable and appropriate and are 

implemented in a timely and comprehensive manner. Each year the Committee meets with the internal auditor without 

management present to talk through any areas of concern that the Committee or auditor may have and to obtain an 

objective view of the performance of the internal control framework. This process aids continuous improvement and 

contributes towards the Committee’s ability to assess the suitability and independence of the internal auditor.  

 

The Committee is responsible for monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the internal audit programme in the context 

of the Group’s overall risk management framework and for ensuring that the internal auditor’s independence is not 

impaired, taking into account relevant professional and regulatory requirements.  During 2021/22, the internal auditor did 

not provide any services to Trent & Dove other than the core internal audit service and, following consideration, the 
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Committee is satisfied that the key personnel involved in delivering the service demonstrate the appropriate levels of 

independence and objectivity.  

 

Following the completion of the 2021/22 Internal Audit Programme, no breaches or significant and fundamental 

weaknesses of the internal control framework were identified by the Internal Auditor and disclosed to the Committee. 

 

Risk Management  
 

The Committee’s second key function during the financial year has been to oversee the implementation of the Board’s Risk 

Management Policy and framework. This work has included: 

• Assisting the Board to develop and review its Risk Appetite and tolerances, particularly in areas of highest 

strategic risk to the business, including reviewing recommendations from management and making 

recommendations for amendments or additions to the Board for consideration; 

• Reviewing and continuously developing the Board’s Strategic Risk Register and recommending new Strategic 

Risks for consideration to the Board with reference to the RSH Sector Risk Profile and the outcomes of the 

internal audit programme; 

• Monitoring Strategic Risk Management KPIs, to ensure that the controls and actions for strategic risks are being 

managed and implemented and appropriate actions are being taken in response to any Strategic Risks which 

are outside the Board’s agreed Risk Appetite; 

• Reporting on the strength of the Internal Control Framework to the Board by reviewing Quarterly Assurance 

Reporting from management; 

• Reviewing the organisation’s policies and key controls for managing probity-related risk, including reviewing 

and reapproving key organisational policies for Conflicts of Interest, Openness and Transparency, Anti-Fraud 

and Bribery, Anti-Money Laundering, Gifts and Hospitality and Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing); and 

• Ensuring statutory and regulatory risks are being managed appropriately via the implementation of effective 

and ongoing colleagues training, including reviewing a Mandatory Training Performance Report at each 

Committee meeting.  

 

As a result of the work undertaken by the Committee during the financial year, the Committee considers that the key 

strategic and operational risks that the organisation was exposed to were assessed thoroughly and mitigated effectively. 

The Report of the Board, starting on page 13, sets out what the organisation considered its Principal or ‘Highest Strategic’ 

risks to be during 2021/22, and provides details of how these risks were effectively controlled and mitigated. 

 

External Audit 
 

ARAC are also responsible for appointing, re-appointing and removing the Group’s external auditor, approving their 
remuneration and terms of engagement and reviewing service quality and performance.  
 
KPMG were appointed as the organisation’s external auditor on 1 April 2017 for an initial period of years (2016/17, 2017/18 
and 2018/19).  In 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21 the Committee extended KPMG’s contract by 12 months at a time on a 
rolling basis, to undertake the external audits for 2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22.  The Committee have agreed that one of 
its key objectives for 2022/23 will to re-tender the external audit contract, to enable the organisation to benefit from a fresh 
perspective and approach and to maintain independence of the external audit process.   
 
KPMG are invited to attend each Committee meeting to provide progress updates against the annual external audit plan 
which has been set by the Committee.  Once a year the Committee meets with the external auditor without management 
present and this allows the Committee to openly discuss and assess the effectiveness of T&D’s external audit arrangements 
and management reporting processes and obtain an independent view of the strength of T&D’s financial controls.    
 
On an annual basis, the Committee reviews the independence of the external auditor, to make sure that it remains 
independent in nature, character and judgment and that T&D’s relationship with them remains objective, reasonable and 
proportionate.  In addition to the external audit services that KPMG provided during 2021/22, KPMG also provided some 
additional taxation services to the Trent & Dove Group, however these did not affect or impair KPMG’s ability to undertake 
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external audit services to Trent & Dove Housing Limited effectively. The Committee are satisfied that the key personnel 
involved in delivering the external audit service demonstrate the appropriate levels of objectivity and independence.   
 

For the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the significant risks that ARAC and KPMG considered in relation to the financial 

statements were: 

• The valuation of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) net liabilities and T&D’s exposure to these; 

• Revenue recognition – in particular, the fraud risks related to revenue recognition; and 

• Management override of controls. 

Other areas of audit focus included: 

• Regulatory compliance, litigation and claims; 

• Recoverability of stock and work in progress; 

• Valuation of Investment Properties; and  

• Going Concern.  
 

KPMG’s opinion of T&D’s management of these key risks can be found in the Report of the External Auditor, starting on 

page 50. The Committee are satisfied that the report produced by the external auditor is fair, balanced and understandable 

and provides the information necessary for stakeholders to assess the organisation’s position, performance and strategy. 

 

The Committee’s priorities for 2022/23  
 

Looking forward, the work of the Committee during 2022/23 will predominantly focus on:  

• re-tendering the external audit contract; 

• delivering the internal audit programme for 2022/23, including overseeing internal audits in the following key areas 

linked to the Board’s development and delivery of the 2022-27 Strategic Plan:  

a) Landlord Health & Safety - particularly in the areas of Electrical, Gas and Fire Safety, including a review of T&D’s 

preparedness for implementing the new legislative requirements set out in the Government’s Building Safety 

Bill; 

b) Income Collection and Arrears Management; 

c) Customer Service and Complaints - to provide assurance to the Board about T&D’s approach to implementing 

service improvements following customer feedback and T&D’s level of compliance with the Housing 

Ombudsman’s new Complaints Handling Code of Practice; 

d) Treasury Management - to provide assurance on the control environment around treasury management and 

long-term finance arrangements, including cash-flow reporting; 

e) Leaseholder & Service Charges - to provide assurance on the controls around the service charge setting 

process; 

f) Right to Buy Sales - to provide assurance on the controls around the Right to Buy Sales processes; 

g) NHF Code of Governance - to provide assurance on the controls to ensure compliance with the NHF Code of 

Governance (2020).  

• working on behalf of the Board to develop an appropriate Risk Management Policy, Risk Appetite and Risk 

Tolerances to align with, and support, the delivery of the Board’s 2022-27 Strategic and Financial Plans; and 

• continuously evolving T&D’s business assurance processes to add value to the Board’s Risk Management and 

organisational reporting processes.  

 

Finally, the Committee would like to extend its thanks to management, its professional advisors and to all the colleagues 

who have serviced and supported the Committee during the financial year.  In particular, the Committee would like to give 

special thanks to its previous Chair, Afzal Ismail, for his dedication and service to the Committee following his retirement 

from the Board at the end of September 2021.  

 

 

 

Michael Finister-Smith 

Committee Chair 
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7 Report of the Governance & Remuneration Committee 

 

“The GRC play a key role in ensuring that high standards of governance and corporate 

responsibility are being met across the organisation, whilst offering our Board members 

and colleagues at all levels fair pay, which is regularly benchmarked, the best working 

conditions and ongoing opportunities for continuous professional development” 
Gary Middleton – Committee Chair 

 

 

 

Committee Role, Purpose and Composition  
 

The purpose of the Committee is to consider all matters relating to: 

• the remuneration and emoluments of Board members and all paid colleagues, including the CEO and the Executive 

Management Team;  

• the review and identification of the skills and competencies required by the Board and the Executive team, including 

planning for the recruitment and succession of all Board and Committee roles; 

• ensuring the effectiveness of the Board and its Committees, including developing plans for their continuous 

improvement and regularly reviewing the effectiveness of the organisation’s governance arrangements; 

• ensuring the organisation adheres to regulatory requirements, including the governance expectations set out in the 

Regulator’s Governance & Financial Viability Standard and the compliance expectations set out in the organisation’s 

adopted Code of Governance, the NHF Code of Governance (2020).  

 

The Committee currently has four Non-Executive members; myself and my Board colleagues Kathryn Robb, Mark Ashby and 

Mike Hew. The Committee is operationally supported by key colleagues from the organisation’s Governance, HR and 

Organisation Development functions. Where appropriate, the Committee also obtains independent professional advice 

from external partners, who assist the Committee on matters such as external pay benchmarking, Board and Committee 

recruitment or externally facilitated Governance Effectiveness Reviews. 

 

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Committee met four times as outlined in its Terms of Reference and 

attendance at these meetings is set out in the Report of the Board starting on page 13.  

 

Looking Back: The Committee’s work during 2021/22: 
 

The Committee has undertaken the following work during the financial year to discharge the responsibilities set out in its 

Terms of Reference: 

 

1. Overseen the implementation of actions coming out of the Board’s last externally facilitated Governance 

Effectiveness Review in 2020/21.  In particular, this has included: 

 

a) Assisting the Board to review the purpose and role of the Board’s Operations Committee, in conjunction 

with Board’s development of its new Customer Voice Strategy.  This involved members of the Committee 

joining the Board’s “Customer Voice Working Group” to develop a Terms of Reference for the new 

Customer Committee.  The Customer Committee’s role will be to provide assurance to the Board that 

matters relating to customer experience, engagement and insight are being properly considered, so that 

the ‘customer voice’ can appropriately inform the Board’s strategic decision-making.   
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In particular, the GRC have been responsible for overseeing the recruitment of the new customer, 

independent and NED members of the new Customer Committee and for ensuring that there is an 

appropriate induction and training plan for the Committee which will enable it to discharge its Terms of 

Reference appropriately. The Board’s existing Operations Committee will disband at the end of June 2022, 

and the new Customer Committee will begin its work at the start of July 2022. More information about the 

Board’s new Customer Voice Strategy, its aims and how the Strategy was developed can be found in the 

Reports of the Chair and the Chief Executive, starting on page 7. 

 

b) Undertaking a cyclical review of the organisation’s Governance Framework and Terms of Reference for 

the Board, Audit & Risk Assurance Committee and the Governance & Remuneration Committee - to 

ensure that they reflect the requirements of the new NHF Code of Governance (2020) and in anticipation 

of the Government’s legislation of the Social Housing White Paper during 2022/23. This work included 

restating the responsibilities of the Board and each Board Committee for decision-making and policy 

approval, to ensure that it is being undertaken at the right level in the organisation with regard to the risks 

involved. 

 

c) The review and approval of a new Board Effectiveness Policy, which combined several of the Board’s 

existing effectiveness processes (such as the annual Board and Committee appraisal process and the 

processes for cyclical review of Board and Committee effectiveness) together into one policy. In addition, 

the Committee put new processes in place to continuously improve the way the Board gains assurance that 

its Committees are discharging their Terms of Reference appropriately.  

 

2. Developed and approved a new Board Recruitment and Succession Policy, supported by a Board Renewal Plan, in 

order to manage the recruitment and succession of key Board roles and progressively refresh the composition of 

the Board and its Committees.  Work undertaken by the GRC during 2021/22 in relation to Board Succession and 

Renewal also included: 

a) the ongoing review and monitoring of collective Board and Committee skills and competencies, in order to 

establish their suitability for the delivery of the Board’s Strategic Plan, identify any skills gaps and identify 

measures for addressing them as part of Board and Committee recruitment and succession activities;   

b) the recruitment, appointment and induction of a new NED, John Doherty, who joined the Board on 1 

October 2021 and replaced NED, Afzal Ismail, who retired from the Board at the end of September 2021; 

and 

c) the internal recruitment and succession of two senior Board roles;   

i) a new Chair of ARAC (Mike Finister-Smith), who took up the role on 1 October 2021 following the 

retirement from the Board of the previous Chair of ARAC (Afzal Ismail) in September 2021; and 

ii) a new Senior Independent Director (Rolf Levesley), who took up the role on 4 April 2022 and who 

was recruited in line with a phased succession programme for the previous post-holder (Gary 

Middleton) who is currently due to retire from the Board at the end of September 2022.  

 

3. Supported the Executive Management Team to develop and implement a new Agile Working Policy for the 

organisation – to reflect the continuous development of organisational culture and working practices coming out 

of the Covid-19 pandemic.  

 

4. Undertook the annual review of compliance with the organisation’s chosen Code of Governance (the NHF Code 

of Governance (2015) and the governance requirements set out in the RSH Governance & Financial Viability 

Standard, and provided assurance to the Board that the organisation was compliant with the requirements of both.  

During 2021/22 this also included planning for the implementation of the new NHF Code of Governance (2020), 

which was published by the National Housing Federation in November 2020 and which the T&D Board have agreed 

to adopt with effect from 1 April 2022 onwards.  
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5. Undertook cyclical external benchmarking of the remuneration and Terms and Conditions for all Trent & Dove 

Staff, the Executive Team, the Chief Executive and T&D’s Board and Committee members, to ensure pay and 

conditions for all paid roles at T&D remains fair and competitive in line with the organisation’s ‘Great place to work’ 

objectives. 

 

6. Led on the 2021/22 Annual Board appraisal process, including reviewing NED feedback to aid the continuous 

improvement of Board processes. 

 

7. Reviewed and recommended the basis for the 2021/22 Colleague Annual Pay Award to the Board; including 

reviewing the performance-related components and the organisational targets which form part of additional, 

‘bonus’-related remuneration for eligible colleagues; 

 

8. Continued to monitor the implementation of the “One Trent & Dove” leadership and development programme.  

This programme, developed internally and delivered by external training and coaching providers, has been 

developed for all Trent & Dove colleagues across all levels in the organisation. Consisting of key skills workshops 

and coaching sessions, it aims to provide all colleagues with an opportunity to work alongside others in different 

teams to reinforce their understanding of Trent & Dove’s culture, organisational mission and values and 

continuously improve and develop core teamworking competencies.  

 

Looking Forward: The Committee’s work in 2022/23: 
 

During 2022/23 the Committee’s work will focus on:  

 

1. The recruitment and onboarding of a new Chair of the Board, as the organisation’s existing Chair is due to retire 

at the end of September 2022. This work will include liaising with the whole Board to scope and set the Role Profile 

based on the qualities, skills and attributes that the Board feels are desirable in their next Chair, as well as ensuring 

that there is an appropriate induction and onboarding process to support and enable the new Chair to become 

effective as quickly as possible. 

 

2. The recruitment of a new Non-Executive Director (“NED”), to replace Board Member Gary Middleton, who is 

currently due to retire at the end of September 2022. This work will include identifying any skills gaps the Board 

should fill via recruitment and ensuring that the new NED receives an appropriate induction. 

 

3. Further developing a set of Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) targets for the Board, to continuously improve 

the Board’s approach to diversity in its own composition.  In particular, the GRC will explore ways the Board can 

progressively improve its composition in areas where it is currently under-represented – for example with respect 

to gender, age and ethnicity, in order to better reflect the demographics of the communities the organisation 

serves. To achieve this, the Board will seek opportunities to continuously improve its recruitment and succession 

policy, as well as building partnerships and links with external organisations and agencies which can support the 

Board to access a more diverse pool of NED candidates. More information about the Board’s current EDI profile 

and high-level EDI targets can be found in the Report of the Board, starting on page 13.  

 

4. Ensuring that the Board’s new Customer Committee receive an appropriate induction and can begin their work 

effectively at the start of July 2022. This will also include monitoring the performance of the Committee during its 

first year of operation to ensure that it is appropriately supported to discharge its Terms of Reference appropriately.  

 

5. Ensuring that recommendations raised during the last externally facilitated Governance Effectiveness Review in 

2020/21 are fully implemented, and planning for the next externally facilitated review which is due at the end of 

the 2023/24 financial year.  
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The Committee look forward to supporting the Board to deliver its mission and objectives during 2022/23 and would like to 

thank management, our professional advisors and the colleagues who have serviced and supported the Committee during 

the financial year.   

 

 

Gary Middleton 

Chair of the Governance & Remuneration Committee 
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8 Report of the Operations Committee  

“Trent & Dove has always had a strong commitment to listening to, and representing, the customer 
voice. In 2014, the Board established the Operations Committee – comprising wholly of Trent & Dove 
customers, to play a key role in scrutinising operational service delivery and holding management to 
account.   
 
During 2021/22, the Committee has continued to remain the Board’s key point of consultation for 
customer views and feedback. In line with the implementation of the Board’s new Customer Voice 
Strategy, the Committee look forward to passing this responsibility to the Board’s new Customer 
Committee when it begins its work at the start of July 2022”. 

Mark Ashby - Chair 

 
Purpose, Role and Composition of the Committee 
The Operation Committee’s role is to make sure that the operational processes carried out by all areas of the business meet 

the targets set by the Board and that customer views, opinions and satisfaction shape the way that T&D’s services are 

delivered.   

The purpose of the Committee is to make sure that the services provided by T&D: 

• meet customer expectations, and can be used and understood in ways which are accessible to all; 

• continuously improve and develop, by taking account of customer views, opinions and feedback; 

• are delivered in cost-effective ways which represent ‘value for money’; and 

• consider accepted good practice to meet the consumer standard expectations set by the Regulator of Social 

Housing. 

The Committee comprises wholly of T&D customers and has six members; myself, Anita Wanowicz, Katarzyna Goleniowska, 
Alzbeta Coates, Ivanhoe Douglas and Ian Moore.   

 
Our Work during 2021/22: 
The following work has been undertaken by the Committee during the financial year to discharge the responsibilities set 
out in its Terms of Reference: 
 

• Overseeing the organisation’s continuing response to, and engagement with, the NHF’s ‘Together with Tenants’ 
initiative, including receiving assurance from the organisation about the work being undertaken to meet the 
requirements of the new ‘Together with Tenants Charter’ and exploring initiatives such as ‘Tackling Stigma’ and 
‘Celebrating thriving communities’. 
 

• Leading on a Community Mapping exercise, to gain an understanding of the community groups, charities and non-
profit organisations operating in Trent & Dove’s neighbourhoods to enable appropriate signposting to customers 
who would like additional help or support. The findings of this exercise proved invaluable during 2021/22 to assist 
customers in the face of the challenges posed by the Covid-19 pandemic and they will enable T&D to continue to 
strengthen existing partnerships, and build new ones, with the organisations and support agencies working in its 
core operating areas. 

 

• Acting as a key stakeholder in the Board’s Customer Voice Review, which resulted in the development of a new 
Customer Voice Strategy focused on ensuring that the Board hears the ‘customer voice’ and receives customer 
opinions and feedback in order to shape its strategic decision-making. The new Customer Voice Strategy will focus 
on the continuous improvement of customer experience, engagement and insight activities in a number of key 
areas including governance, customer scrutiny, customer insight and data, complaints, Residents Associations, the 
provision of community grants and programmes of community activities. More information about the Board’s new 
Customer Voice Strategy, its aims and how the Strategy was developed can be found in the Reports of the Chair 
and the Chief Executive, starting on page 7. 

 

• Reviewing Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s), including those for landlord health & safety, Social Return on 
Investment, repairs and maintenance performance, customer satisfaction and complaints handling.  
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• Reviewing and monitoring key operational risks affecting customers, customer service and the customer 
experience. In particular, the Committee participated in three risk ‘deep-dives’ during the financial year focusing 
on Income Collection, Landlord Health & Safety Compliance and Data Protection to examine the internal control 
framework in place around these key risk areas. 
 

• Reviewing the organisation’s self-assessment of compliance with the Regulator’s Consumer Standards and 
understanding the implications of the Government’s development of the Consumer Standards, as set out in the 
Social Housing White Paper, for customers and the development of T&D’s future service provision. 

 

• Commissioning periodic Service Reviews from the Tenant Scrutiny Forum, which for 2021/22 included asking the 
Tenant Scrutiny Form to review the ways that customers communicate and engage with the T&D and identifying 
whether customer felt valued as a result of the interactions they have had with the organisation. This review 
resulted in a number of recommendations which have since been adopted by the Board, including the Board’s 
commitment to invest in the development of a new ‘customer portal’ to help customers access the information on 
their tenancy or customer file more easily and ‘self-serve’ to undertake key tenancy-related activities.   

 

• Reviewing and monitoring the number of complaints received by the organisation and understanding what the 

organisation is doing in response to the learning from complaints to continuously improve the services which are 

provided to customers. During 2021/22 this work has included making sure that the organisation’s Complaints 

Policy Framework reflected the expectations laid down by the Housing Ombudsman in its new Complaints Handling 

Code of Practice, and that the organisation’s processes for listening and responding to customer expressions of 

dissatisfaction are fair, reasonable and appropriate.  

 

• Reviewing the Board’s suggested rent and service charge approach for 2022/23, including reviewing the reason 

and rationale for the rent increase proposed by the Executive, to ensure affordability and value for money for 

customers; and 

 

• Reviewing and approved key policies affecting customers – including the organisation’s Lettings Policy and the 
organisation’s Complaints Policy Framework.   

 
Looking Forward  

In line with the implementation of the Board’s new Customer Voice Strategy, 2021/22 will be the Committee’s last financial 

year of operation as it is due to pass its remit for customer experience, engagement and insight matters to the Board’s new 

Customer Committee at the end of June 2022.    

 

The Committee are particularly proud of the insight and feedback that it has provided to the Board to help the Board set 

customer-related policies and make key strategic decisions which impact the homes and services which Trent & Dove 

provides.  The Committee have been supported in their work by the Tenant Scrutiny Forum, who have played a key role in 

reviewing and scrutinising service and policy development before the details came to the Committee for review and/or 

approval. The Tenant Scrutiny Forum have played a valuable role in making sure that the customer voice is heard, and in 

shaping and challenging plans so that the Committee’s proposals to Board become the best that they can be.   

 

On behalf of my fellow Committee members, I would like to thank all the T&D customers who have been involved in the 

Operations Committee, the Tenant Scrutiny Forum or in T&D’s customer engagement activities. Their dedication and 

enthusiasm has directly shaped and improved the customer experience.  The Committee welcomes the Board’s continued 

commitment to the hearing the Customer Voice and it looks forward to passing the responsibility for making sure that the 

Board continues to hear this effectively to the new Customer Committee when it begins its work at the beginning of July 

2022.      

  

 

Mark Ashby 

Chair of Committee 
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9 Performance Overview 2021/22  

Group Financial Performance 

Our key financial objectives are: 

• Achieving VFM through cost control and income maximisation, thus ensuring the subsequent 

surpluses are used to contribute to our four strategic objectives; 

• Ensuring that all funders’ covenants are fully met; 

• Ensuring the association’s short and medium-term liquidity is monitored, sustained and reported. 

 

The association’s accounting policies are set out on pages 60-68 of the financial statements. 

 

The summarised elements from the financial statements are: 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 

• Increase in turnover from letting due to the increase in unit numbers; 

• Reduction in operating surplus from lettings due to  

o Increased routine and planned maintenance costs due to an increase in the volume of works, 

new and reintroduced programmes, and increased cost of materials; 

o Increased service charge costs due to an increased volume of estate works, and management 

company charges associated with recent development schemes, which are matched by an 

increase in service charge income. 

 

• Increased surplus on asset disposals due to a higher volume of RTA, market sales disposals and shared 

ownership properties staircased to 100% ownership. 

 

The benchmarking of these results can be seen in the VFM statement at page 39. 

  

2021/22 2020/21 2019/20

£m £m £m

Turnover from Lettings 30.5                       28.7                       27.9                       

Lettings Operating Costs (24.3) (22.2) (19.0)

Operating Surplus from Lettings 6.2                         6.5                         8.9                         

1st Tranche Shared Ownership Surplus 0.5                         0.3                         0.3                         

Other Social Housing Activities Surplus / (Deficit) (0.4) (0.4) (0.3)

Non Social Housing Activities 0.1                         -                         -                         

Surplus on Asset Disposals 2.3                         1.6                         2.0                         

Movement in Fair Value 0.6                         (0.4) (0.1)

Operating Surplus 9.3                         7.6                         10.8                       

Net Interest Charge (4.8) (4.4) (4.5)

Surplus before Taxation 4.5                         3.2                         6.3                         
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Statement of Financial Position 

 

• 2021/22 saw a total of £11.2m being spent on the supply of new properties and £5.2m on 

improvement works to existing properties  

• The valuation received from Staffordshire CC resulted in a £6.0m decrease in the pension liability. 

 

Financial Covenants  

 

Treasury Management 

At 31 March 2022 Trent & Dove’s total group borrowing totalled £127.5m as shown below: - 

 

 

(*) this balance includes loans totalling £80.36 that were agreed in March 2022.  

2021/22 2020/21 2019/20

£m £m £m

Housing Properties at Cost 262.1                     248.1                     232.1                     

Depreciation (55.9) (51.7) (47.6)

Housing Properties Net Book Value 206.2                     196.4                     184.5                     

Other Fixed Assets 5.8                         5.0                         4.6                         

Long-term Grant Liabilities (32.2) (28.7) (24.4)

Net Current (Liabilities) / Assets 4.0                         (0.9) (3.7)

Assets less current liabilities and Grant 183.8                     171.8                     161.0                     

Reserves 58.3                       48.3                       46.9                       

Pension 0.2                         5.8                         3.9                         

Other Long-term Liabilities (2.2) (2.3) (2.1)

Net debt 127.5                     120.0                     112.3                     

Funding 183.8                     171.8                     161.0                     

Funder

Current 

Minimum / 

Maximum

2021/22

Actual

2020/21

Actual

Year on Year 

performance

Covenant 

Compliance

Net debt per Unit Lloyds 32,000£                 19,211£                 18,621£                  P

Yorkshire 32,000£                 18,736£                 18,082£                  P

Interest Cover Lloyds 100% 281% 271%  P

Yorkshire 125% 281% 271%  P

Interest Cover (MRI) Lloyds 100% 176% 218%  P

Drawn Undrawn

Available

Undrawn

Unavailable *

Facility

£m £m £m £m

Lloyds Bank 82.0                 0.5                   -                   82.5                 

Yorkshire Building Society 15.0                 35.0                 -                   50.0                 

THFC 30.5                 -                   80.4                 110.9              

Total 127.5              35.5                 80.4                 243.3              



Annual Report & Accounts for year ended 31 March 2022 
9. Performance Overview 2021/22  

 

37 
 

All borrowing is in sterling so attracts no currency risk and all cash reserves are deposited in line with the 

treasury strategy. 

 

Liquidity remains a key focus for the organisation and at March 2022 we had: 

• Cash and cash equivalents immediately accessible of £5.8m 

• £35.5m in undrawn secured funding facilities (including Revolving Credit Facilities) 

• £79.2m of unencumbered housing properties available to be used as future security. 

 

Our liquidity ratio at 31 March 22, which includes all contractually committed and Board approved 

development spend, was in excess of 60 months.   

 

In March 2022, we agreed additional loan facilities, with a principle base value of £71m, in two funding 

exercises, one an extension to our current loan with THFC and the second a new bLEND Loan with deferred 

drawdowns. This increased liquidity which are reflected by the 60+ months liquidity ratio.   

 

 

Going Concern 

The 2022/23 Financial Plan, approved by Board in May 2022, demonstrated that Trent & Dove had a 

reasonable expectation that they had adequate resources to continue their current operational existence for 

the foreseeable future. Primarily this was based on sufficient available liquidity to support the organisation’s 

financial requirements following the successful completion of the new funding exercise during 2021/22 which 

saw receipt of an additional base facility of £71m. 

 

Trent & Dove, in line with the rest of the sector, face the current uncertainty brought about by inflationary 

pressures, in particular the impact for the rent increase in April 2023 and the growing differential between 

CPI & RPI. In addition, future costs required to support and improve our current homes, including that 

required to meet the zero-carbon agenda, will need to be balanced against our continued aspirations to 

provide new homes.  

 

Once again, a set of rigorous stress tests have been applied to the Financial Plan to ensure the impact of 

these risks are evaluated with mitigations, when required, evaluated and identified. 

 

Based on the above, Trent & Dove has a reasonable expectation that they have adequate resources to 

continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.  For this reason, the association continues to 

adopt the going concern basis in the financial statements. 
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Key Performance Indicators 

Using a balanced scorecard approach the organisation reports quarterly to the Board and monthly to the 

Executive on its key objectives and a range of key performance indicators to ensure we deliver our mission 

to provide homes and services that enable people and communities to thrive. We are pleased to report strong 

progress and performance see Fig. 6 below.  

 

Fig. 6 
 

Performance 2021/22 

 

   
New homes - 130 

 
(Target 131)   

Efficiency savings £315k 
 

(Target £300k)  

Rent collected 100.02% 
 

(Target 97.5%)  

   
9 people achieved sustained 

employment in year 
 
 

(Target 15) 

7,546 volunteering hours 
 
 
 

(Target 7,500) 

Number of families receiving 
assisted support such as mental 

health or parental care  
totalled 2,304 
 (Target 1,000) 

   
1.53% of revenue invested in 

our communities, which is 
 over £400k 
(Target 2%) 

 86.9% of customers surveyed 
believe their rent provides 

value for money 
(Target 85%) 

83.3% of customers say their 
Trent & Dove home provides a 

great place to live 
(Target 80%) 

   
71% of our repairs were carried 

out within our customer  
agreed date 

 
(Target 90%) 

Colleague Turnover 9.9% 
 
 
 

(Target <10%) 

Safety checks  
completed on time was  

99.88% for Electric  
and 99.90% for Gas  

(Target 100%) 
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What Value for Money (VfM) means to Trent & Dove 

Value for Money continues to be a key area of strategic focus for Trent & Dove. It is embedded in our 

organisation and underpins the delivery of our strategic objective of transforming Homes, Lives & 

Communities by: 

• Setting strategic aims and then aligning our time, money, partnerships, expertise & passion to 

activities and projects that deliver those aims 

• Continuing to increase our number of safe, affordable, energy-efficient and comfortable homes to 

meet local demand 

• Continuing to invest in the improvement of our current stock in line with our Asset Management 

Strategy (informed by stock condition surveys and our Asset Performance Evaluation model) 

• Measuring our Social Return on Investment (SROI) to understand the impact of our community 

initiatives  

• Optimising the use of our finite resources to create value (in many forms) for our customers, 

communities and colleagues  

 

The impact of Covid-19 on the economy has highlighted the need for not only high-quality social housing but 

also support services for our more vulnerable customers. To continue to deliver both requirements Trent & 

Dove must maximise VFM throughout all its activities and set targets that support the overall Financial Plan.  

 

The Regulator of Social Housing (RSH) adopts a co-regulatory approach to VFM seeking assurance that 

providers are complying with the requirements of their VFM Standard. Included within the standard is the 

requirement to publish evidence to enable stakeholders to understand performance against these targets, 

and how that performance benchmarks against the sector. This includes a set of “regulatory” metrics, 

demonstrating efficiency, effectiveness and economy.  

 

In addition, we have defined metrics that are unique to Trent & Dove, capturing and evidencing the wide 

range of activities we undertake in line with our social purpose.   

 

The results of those metrics for Trent & Dove for 2021/22 (showing 2020/21 equivalents) are shown below.   

 

For Benchmarking purposes 2 medians are used: 

 

1. The overall sector derived from the 2020/21 Global Accounts (most recent available). 

2. A comparator group of 16 other associations (across 9 groups) identified as being the best match to 

Trent & Dove in terms of unit size, geography, maturity and type of property supplied.  

 

However, it is recognised that the reliability of benchmarking for comparison purposes has been reduced for 

two reasons 

 

• During the pandemic associations have reacted to the service provision challenges in different ways, 

in particular with respect to repairs, where some organisations remained on an emergency only 

response for a greater length of time. This will impact on both actual results and future forecasts as 

the catch-up is carried forward to 2022/23 and in some cases even further. 

• Future forecasts now contain high inflationary assumptions which are not reflected in historic actuals 

– therefore comparing future metrics to the 2020/21 results (which are the most up to date available) 

could prove misleading. 

 

 



Annual Report & Accounts for year ended 31 March 2022 
9. Performance Overview 2021/22  

 

40 
 

 

  

M
e
tr

ic
 N

o
.

D
e
fi

n
it

io
n

2
0
2
1
/2

2

A
c
tu

a
l

2
0
2
1
/2

2

T
a
rg

e
t

2
0
2
0
/2

1

A
c
tu

a
l

2
0
2
0
/2

1
 

C
o

n
s
o

li
d

a
te

d
 G

ro
u

p
 

S
e
c
to

r 
M

e
d

ia
n

2
0
2
0
/2

1

C
o

m
p

a
ra

to
r

G
ro

u
p

 M
e
d

ia
n

C
o

m
p

a
re

d
 t

o
 T

a
rg

e
t

Y
e
a
r 

o
n

 Y
e
a
r 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

C
o

m
p

a
re

d
 t

o
 S

e
c
to

r 

G
ro

u
p

 M
e
d

ia
n

C
o

m
p

a
re

d
 t

o
 

C
o

m
p

a
ra

to
r 

G
ro

u
p

 

M
e
d

ia
n

1
Reinvestment measures investment in Properties (both 

Existing and New Build Supply)
7.93% 18.49% 8.94% 5.77% 8.54%   P 

2
New Build Supply (Social Housing): No. of Social 

Housing Units delivered as percentage of existing stock
1.92% 2.02% 2.43% 1.31% 1.56%   P P

3
Gearing - measures % of assets made up of debt and 

reliance on debt funding
59.17% 61.93% 58.46% 43.87% 61.03% P   P

4
EBITDA MRI Interest Cover - measures surplus 

generated compared to interest payable
140.58% 127.00% 187.08% 182.53% 183.11% P   

5 Operating Margin (Social Housing Lettings) 20.21% 17.00% 22.58% 26.31% 26.41% P   

6 Operating Margin (overall) 19.44% 20.00% 20.06% 23.86% 25.09%    

7 Headline Social Housing Cost per Unit £ 3,813 £ 3,696 £ 3,171 £ 3,731 £ 3,218    

8 Return on Capital Employed (ROCE) 4.01% 2.63% 3.98% 3.33% 4.41% P  P 
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Re-Investment and New Build Supply (Social Housing) 

One of Trent & Dove’s strategic objectives is to generate robust surpluses and attract efficient funding to 

maximise our capacity to build quality new homes whilst protecting investment in our existing stock. In 

2021/22 we spent £11.2m (2020/21 £15.1m) supplying 130 new homes (2020/21 162) and £5.2m (2020/21 

£2.5m) was invested in improvements to existing stock. 

 

The 2021/22 Financial Plan sets a target of 131 new social homes to be delivered (2.02% of existing stock 

numbers). We delivered 130 (1.92%) homes during 2021/22 resulting in a top quartile result against both the 

sector median and our comparator group for New Build Supply.  

 

The original Development Expenditure Budget was £37.9m with an additional £5.1m investment in existing 

stock, resulting in a total target of £43.0m (18.49% of total asset value).   

 

The actual figure of £16.4m reflects the challenges experienced in the development environment throughout 

the year with shortages of materials, and in some cases, labour with associated cost increases, and a 

disrupted and fragmented supply chain. These are major issues which are caused by a range of national and 

international reasons including the war in Ukraine, on-going impact of Brexit and covid issues, particularly on 

the Chinese economy. These challenges delayed progress at several schemes and meant a reduction in 

completions for the year (although we are still achieved 97.7% of target) as well as delays in starts on site at 

several schemes. Delays in starts were further exacerbated by the length of time taken to make some 

planning decisions and issues with land valuation at one scheme. We also had some projected schemes not 

proceed at all, primarily due to developers wanting more than we were prepared to pay. This all contributed 

to a reduced development spend during the year.  

 

The actual reinvestment expenditure was £16.4m (7.93%). However, the association still achieved top 

quartile performance for re-investment against the sector median although this was below median when 

compared to its comparator group. This deferred expenditure has now been re-profiled into the expenditure 

for 2022/23+.  
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The investment spend for future years reflects that which was required in the latest stock condition survey 

and remains constant throughout the life of the plan at an average of £8.0m per year. Due to the uncertainty 

of future development costs we only include a development pipeline for approx. 4 years resulting in the 

apparent reduction to both the following metrics after 2023/24. 

 

 
 

It is currently the intention to continue to develop in future years, subject to loan security availability, and it 

is anticipated that development expenditure will continue at current levels, for a period of at least 10 years, 

evidencing VFM in the organisation by demonstrating both efficiency and effectiveness. 

 

Gearing 

The comparator group chosen represents LSVT organisations with a maturity of greater than 12 years and, 

assuming similar development aspirations, would therefore be expected to have similar loan values in 

relation to its asset values.  

 

The actual metric for 2021/22 is 59.17% which is below the annual target (61.93%) but an increase on the 

previous year’s value (58.46%). As would be expected this results in a low quartile position when comparing 

to the overall sector median of 43.87% (as this includes non-LSVTs historically have had lower levels of debt), 

but an upper quartile position when compared to the comparator group’s position of 61.03%. This combined 

with our top quartile position for the delivery of New Build Supply evidences strong VFM by demonstrating 

that our reinvested surpluses reduce our reliance on debt funding to support our strong development 

aspirations. 

 

The 2022/23 Financial Plan currently assumes the delivery of an additional 967 units over the next 7 years 

supported by the recent funding exercise. The resulting projected gearing ratios (shown below), whilst 

showing an increase over the 5-year period, demonstrate VFM by remaining below the current comparator 

group median.  
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Reinvestment measures investment in Properties 

(both Existing and New Build Supply)
13.51% 23.48% 12.72% 7.44% 5.47%

2

New Build Supply (Social Housing): No. of Social 

Housing Units delivered as percentage of existing 

stock

1.62% 5.04% 3.32% 0.87% 1.64%
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Gearing - measures % of assets made up of debt 

and reliance on debt funding
52.54% 55.36% 55.33% 54.63% 53.48%
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Operating Margins and EBITDA (MRI) 

Trent & Dove’s actual SHL operating margin for 2021/22 (20.21%) was higher than the targeted figure (17.0%) 

primarily due to the strong arrears performance but showed a decrease against 2020/21 (22.58%). This was 

primarily due to: 

• Higher routine maintenance costs to deliver an increased volume of day to day repairs work and 

works on re-let properties to support the improved void standard for our customers and reduce 

future expenditure on these properties 

• An increase in planned maintenance expenditure due to new programmes and reintroduction of 

programmes post covid-19 such as communal area upgrades and cyclical painting; in addition to an 

additional volume of work required on the asbestos, smoke alarms, fire protection and building 

fabric repairs programmes.  

 

These additional costs were reflected in Trent & Dove’s actual overall operating margin for 2021/22 (19.44%) 

which were slightly below the targeted figure (20.0%) and show a small decrease against 2020/21 (20.06%).  

 

The organisation’s EBITDA(MRI) for 2021/22 is 140.58% against a target of 127.00% and a 2020/21 figure of 

187.08% reflecting the margin performance above and a significant increase in capitalised major repairs 

expenditure since the previous year. Net interest paid was broadly in line with the targeted value and the 

amounts paid in 2020/21.  

 

A comparison with the 2020/21 overall sector (182.53%) and comparator group (183.11%) result for EBITDA 

(MRI) suggests the association 2021/22 performance is below median, although this does not factor in the 

inflationary pressures that started to impact in 2021/22. As with most of the metrics, but EBITDA (MRI) in 

particular, the impact of external influences and pressures, on the median for 2021/22 will not be known 

until the publication of the 2021/22 Global Accounts.  

 

 
 

In addition to increased inflation, additional costs are included in the 2022/23 forecast to support the 

customer voice agenda and temporary roles to support customers dealing with the cost of living crisis, before 

returning to normal levels. This is evidenced in the targets for 2022/23 – 2026/27 shown above which show 

a reduction in the first year before returning to more normal levels. 
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4
EBITDA MRI Interest Cover - measures surplus 

generated compared to interest payable
130.03% 141.13% 173.32% 155.55% 149.98%

5 Operating Margin (Social Housing Lettings) 18.14% 22.31% 26.55% 28.08% 28.60%

6 Operating Margin (Overall) 18.50% 22.32% 26.16% 28.02% 28.24%
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Headline Social Cost per Unit 

Trent & Dove’s overall Headline Social Housing CPU for 2021/22 is £3,813 which is higher than the target 

figure of £3,696 and, due to the cost pressures identified with respect to the margin result, shows an increase 

against the 2020/21 figure of £3,171.  

 

However, this result is higher in comparison to both the sector median (£3,731) and comparator group 

(£3,218) results for 2020/21 and suggests a below median benchmarking performance for Trent & Dove.  The 

impact of the pandemic and the different approaches taken by associations to meet the challenges, 

combined with inflationary pressures means, as with Operating Margins, the 2021/22 Global Account will be 

required to understand the true position. 

 

 
 

The targets for future years (shown below) evidence an increase in forecasted costs for future years which 

includes: 

• Higher management costs to support the customer voice agenda and extension of temporary 
roles to support any temporary increase in tenancy turnover due to the cost of living crisis in 
addition to higher assumptions for future inflation rates across existing services;   

• Increased revenue repairs costs to continue to support the higher void standard and expected 
levels of day to day repairs, offset by savings anticipated from a move away from sub-contractors 
towards in-house provision  

• increased capitalised repairs costs to meet the requirements of the stock condition survey, works 
to meet the EPCC target and expansions of the kitchens and bathrooms programme. 

 

 

The forecasts exceed the sector median for 2020/21 for all years, which is expected due to the inflationary 
pressure being felt across the economy.  These inflationary pressures are expected to be reflected in the 
sector median results for 2021/22 as discussed above. 

 

 

 

Cost per Unit (CPU)

2021/22

Actual

2021/22

Target

2020/21

Actual

2020/21 

Consolidated 

Group Sector 

Median

2020/21

Comparator

Group Median

Compared to 

Target

Year on Year 

performance

Compared to 

Sector Group 

Median

Compared to 

Comparator 

Group Median

£ £ £ £ £

Headline Social Housing 3,813                3,696                3,171                3,731                3,218                   

Management 968                   1,495                1,006                1,060                950                   P  P 

Service Charge 312                   199                   241                   435                   308                     P 

Maintenance (Routine & Planned) 1,118                1,068                828                   1,108                1,116                   

Major Repairs 1,157                875                   873                   736                   638                      

Other Social Housing 258                   59                     223                   198                   179                      
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7 Headline Social Housing Cost per Unit 4,113£              4,158£              4,259£              4,280£              4,379£              
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All future activities will be subject to Trent & Dove’s VFM strategic objectives which include 

• Purchasing and spend activities being undertaken in the most economically advantageous 
manner to reduce costs or enable the organisation to achieve more results for the same costs 

• Maximisation of new income into the business to generate additional sources of funding 
• The embedment of continual improvement throughout the organisation 
• Practical business models/processes/systems being used to deliver the most efficient outcomes 

 

Return on Capital Employed 

This metric compares the operating surplus to total assets less current liabilities and is a common measure 

in the commercial sector to assess the efficient investment of capital resources. 

 

Trent & Dove’s 2021/21 results of 4.01% compares favourably to the target (2.63%), an increase from 

2020/21 (3.98%) and the overall sector median (3.33%) but below median result from the comparator for 

2020/21 (4.41%) – it should be recognised that, again, the publication of the 2021/22 global accounts may 

evidence similar cost increases throughout the comparator group. 

 

Future targets show a trend of improvement in this ratio over the 5 year period, despite the cost pressures 

factored into the 2022/23 financial plan, which compare favourably to overall sector median. 
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8 Return on Capital Employed (ROCE) 2.58% 3.30% 3.83% 3.70% 3.85%
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Trent & Dove Specific Metrics 

In addition to those standard sector metrics which have been reported above, Trent & Dove have also 

identified additional metrics which measure performance against some of their unique strategic community 

and employee-based objectives and values. 

 

 

Metric 1 – Number of Households supported by Tenancy Sustainment 

This measure demonstrates Trent & Dove’s commitment to the communities where it operates by investing 

in supporting customers to sustain their homes. The small team have seen an increasing number of referrals, 

in part due to an increase in cases, and due to changes in processes of other teams to ensure that 

Sustainment are involved if problems with a tenancy arise. Next year we will be examining failure demand 

and reviewing the offer to ensure that we are supporting customers at the right time by providing 

interventions ourselves, plus signposting where necessary.     

 

Metric 2 - Number of Volunteering Hours 

Volunteering hours have returned to pre-covid levels during 2021/22 with 7546 hours contributed to by 10 

regular monthly volunteers and 7 ad hoc placements for a short time period.  

 

Volunteering continues to support projects such as grounds maintenance, community projects and our 

furniture project. If volunteering did not exist this work would either be a direct cost to Trent & Dove or in 

terms of community support, not get done at all. 

 

Metric 3 - Investment in Neighbourhoods & Communities as a % of revenue 

In 2017 the Board committed to investing 2.0% of revenues per annum into supporting our Neighbourhoods 

by 2022.  

 

This year we invested 1.53%, over £400k, in areas such as family support, mental health, youth support and 

a social exclusion officer. We believe that this investment not only supports our mission and community focus 

but represents value for money in that the support provided helps sustain tenancies and rental income.  We 

are reviewing what activities we include in this measure for 2022/23 onwards to ensure that we capture all 

support services delivered. 
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T1
Number of Households supported byTenancy 

sustainment
2,316                1,000                2,309                P 

T2 Number of volunteering hours 7,546                7,500                1,800                P 

T3
Investment in Neighbourhoods & Communities as 

a % of revenue
1.53% 2.00% 1.52%  

T4
% of Customers who when surveyed rated our 

service as good or outstanding
83% 80% 86% P 

T5 Colleague Turnover % 9.9% 10.0% 5.0% P 
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Metric 4 - % of customers rating our services as good or outstanding 

In 2021/22 the percentage of customers rating our service as good or better achieved 83% against a target 

of 80%, this compares to 86% in 2020/21. This year’s result is drawn from 800 surveys compared to 400 

surveys completed in 2020/21.  STAR surveys have been completed by an external company since Q3 

2020/21, 200 per quarter.  Previously in house were undertaken on smaller sample sizes.  It is felt that the 

results are now a better reflection of views from a broader customer base. 

 

Metric 5 - Colleague Turnover % 

In April 2019, the Board set a target of 10% for colleague turnover and incorporated this target into colleague 

Performance Related Bonus criteria. Colleague attrition had been increasing and can, if left unchecked, 

impact culture and performance. During 2021/22 the business has continued to invest in its workforce via 

the One Trent & Dove Programme despite Covid-19 restrictions.  Colleague Turnover during 2021/22 was 

9.9%, an increase on the previous year but within our target. 

 

Future Priorities  

Trent & Dove have recently refreshed our Value for Money strategy, detailing our focus areas within Strategic 

Value for Money (setting strategic objectives and allocating resources to meet these objectives) and 

Operational Value for Money (optimising finite resources to create value). Value for Money remains an 

integral part of everything we do and enables us to achieve sustainable growth while enabling people and 

communities to thrive. 

The external environment remains extremely challenging, with pressures ranging from the resurgence of 

inflation to increased regulation and the ongoing effects of the Covid-19 pandemic. We continue to 

experience internal cost pressures as we seek to improve our assets and organisation in line with our new 

ambitious five-year strategic plan, including but not limited to: 

• Significant investment in our existing stock 

• Our development ambitions to deliver 967 affordable homes over the next seven years 

• Continued IT investment to further modernise our organisation 

• Additional spend required to support existing and upcoming government policies and regulation, 

including decarbonisation, the ‘Levelling Up’ programme and the Social Housing White Paper.  

Through 2022/23 and beyond we will continue to build on our successes in identifying efficiencies and 

savings, from our headline annual cashable efficiency target of £300k to our development of a culture of 

Value for Money at all levels of the organisation (colleagues come forward with ideas for efficiencies and 

proactively identify lower level ‘everyday’ savings, such as stationery savings resulting from digitisation). 

We have invested in Business Improvement capabilities to further improve our efficiency and effectiveness 

across the organisation in areas ranging from reducing failure demand in the contact centre to defining our 

services and signposting additional support in Supporting Housing. We are also enhancing our benefits 

tracking (across and within years) to ensure we realise the gains from improvements.  

We are re-examining our default position on cost & quality, moving from a historic focus on lowest cost to a 

more holistic view that maximises value and provides desired quality for a given cost. This is reflected at the 

strategic level (where we now accept a wider range of below median costs if we can demonstrate outsized 

returns of value) and in procurement, where tenders are assessed on the whole value of contract, including 

support for our social initiatives. 
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Our social purpose and focus on social value can be seen through some of the Trent & Dove specific metrics 

included above. We remain committed to our communities and will continue to invest in a range of initiatives. 

We are also exploring several areas to improve the ‘equity’ component of Value for Money, including: 

• Improving our data to better understand customer groups and characteristics beyond level of need 

• Identifying specific barriers to inclusion and impact in our services and initiatives  

• Taking into consideration fuel poverty and access to affordable warmth when pursuing ‘fabric first’ 

asset investment   

• Increasing awareness of our services through our Louder & Stronger strategy 

In summary, Value for Money continues to underpin the delivery of the organisation’s strategic objectives. 

We have clear priorities for 2022/23 and beyond including an explicit list of VfM initiatives, and we will 

continue to benchmark our VfM performance, with target quartiles for each of the prescribed VfM metrics 

set by our Board and reviewed quarterly. 
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Statement of Board’s responsibilities in respect of the Board’s report and the 

financial statements   

The Board is responsible for preparing the Board’s Report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.   

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society law requires the Board to prepare financial statements for each 
financial year. Under those regulations the Board have elected to prepare the financial statements in 
accordance with UK Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland.   

The financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group 
and the association and of its income and expenditure for that period.   

In preparing these financial statements, the Board is required to:   

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;   

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;   

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards and the Statement of Recommended Practice have 
been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;    

• assess the group’s and the association’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern; and  

• use the going concern basis of accounting unless it either intends to liquidate the group or the association 
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.     

The Board is responsible for keeping proper books of account that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the association and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply 
with the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 
and the Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social Housing 2019. It is responsible for 
such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and has general responsibility for taking 
such steps as are reasonably open to it to safeguard the assets of the association and to prevent and detect 
fraud and other irregularities.   

The Board is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the association’s website.  Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdiction. 
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10 Independent Auditor’s Report to Trent & Dove Housing Association   

Opinion  

We have audited the financial statements of Trent and Dove Housing Association (“the association”) for the 
year ended 31 March 2022 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, 
Association Statement of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, Association 
Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Reserves, Association Statement of 
Changes in Reserves, Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and related notes, including the accounting 
policies in note 1.  

In our opinion the financial statements:   

• give a true and fair view, in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 102 The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland, of the state of affairs of the group and 
the association as at 31 March 2022 and of its income and expenditure;    

• comply with the requirements of the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014; and  

• have been prepared in accordance with the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting 
Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social Housing 2019.  

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and 

applicable law.  Our responsibilities are described below.  We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, 

and are independent of the group and the association in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including 

the FRC Ethical Standard.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate 

basis for our opinion. 

Going concern 

The association’s Board has prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not 

intend to liquidate the group or the association or to cease its operations, and as they have concluded that 

the group’s and the association’s financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded 

that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over its ability to continue as 

a going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going concern 

period”). 

In our evaluation of the Board’s conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the group’s business 

model and analysed how those risks might affect the group’s and the association’s financial resources or 

ability to continue operations over the going concern period.  Our conclusions based on this work: 

• we consider that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the 
financial statements is appropriate; 

• we have not identified, and concur with the Board’s assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty 
related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s 
and the association’s ability to continue as a going concern for the going concern period. 

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in 
outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above 
conclusions are not a guarantee that the association will continue in operation. 

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations – ability to detect 

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud 

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud ("fraud risks") we assessed events or conditions that 
could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk 
assessment procedures included: 
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• Enquiring of management, internal audit and inspection of policy documentation as to the Group’s high-
level policies and procedures to prevent and detect fraud, as well as whether they have knowledge of 
any actual, suspected or alleged fraud. 

• Reading Board minutes. 

• Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships. 

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of 
fraud throughout the audit. This included communication from the Group audit team to component audit 
teams of relevant fraud risks identified at the Group level and request to component audit teams to report 
to the Group audit team any instances of fraud that could give rise to a material misstatement at the Group 
level.  

As required by auditing standards, we perform procedures to address the risk of management override of 

controls, in particular the risk that management may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting 

entries. On this audit we do not believe there is a fraud risk related to revenue recognition because revenue 

transactions are routine in nature. Based on the restricted opportunity for management to fraudulently 

recognise revenue we have rebutted the fraud risk for all revenue streams. 

We did not identify any additional fraud risks. 

We performed procedures including: 

• Identifying journal entries to test based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries to supporting 
documentation. These include those posted to unusual accounts pairings. 

 

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement related to compliance with laws and regulations 

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on 

the financial statements from our general commercial and sector experience through discussion with the 

directors (as required by auditing standards), and discussed with the directors the policies and procedures 

regarding compliance with laws and regulations.   

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any 

indications of non-compliance  throughout the audit .  This included communication from the Group audit 

team to component audit teams of relevant laws and regulations identified at the Group level, and a request 

for component auditors to report to the Group audit team any instances of non-compliance with laws and 

regulations that could give rise to a material misstatement at the Group level. 

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably. 

The Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including financial 

reporting legislation (including related companies legislation), distributable profits legislation and taxation 

legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our 

procedures on the related financial statement items.   

Whilst the Group is subject to many other laws and regulations, we did not identify any others where the 
consequences of non-compliance alone could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the 
financial statements.  

 

 

 

 

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation 
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Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected 

some material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and 

performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-

compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial 

statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.   

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit 
procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing non-
compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations. 

Other information   

The directors are responsible for the other information, which comprises the Board’s Annual Report. Our 

opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express 

an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.   

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial 
statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our audit knowledge.  Based solely on that work, we have not identified material 
misstatements in the other information;   

 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception   

Under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 we are required to report to you if, in our 
opinion: 

• the association has not kept proper books of account; or 

• the association has not maintained a satisfactory system of control over its transactions; or 

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the association’s books of account; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we need for our audit. 

We have nothing to report in these respects. 

Board’s responsibilities   

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 49, the association’s Board is responsible for: the 
preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair view; such internal control as it determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; assessing the group and the association’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless it either intends to liquidate the group or the association or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.      

Auditor’s responsibilities   

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s 
report.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.   

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 

 

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities   

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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This report is made solely to the association in accordance with section 87 of the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 and section 128 of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the association those matters we are required to state 
to it in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept 
or assume responsibility to anyone other than the association for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 

 

 

 
Sarah Brown 
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor   

Chartered Accountants   

One Snowhill 

Snow Hill Queensway 

Birmingham 

B4 6GH 

 

Date: 21 September 2022 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 31 March 2022 
 

 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 60 to 96 form part of the financial statements   

Note 2022  2021  

£'000  £'000  

Turnover 3  32,652 31,607 

Operating expenditure 3  (26,306) (25,266)

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4  2,315 1,632 

Movement on revaluation of investment properties 13  562 (352)

Operating surplus 3  9,223 7,621 

Interest and financing costs 5  (4,759) (4,442)

Finance Income 6  1 8 

Surplus before tax 7  4,465 3,187 

Taxation 10  (170) 67 

Surplus for the year 4,295 3,254 

Actuarial gain / (loss) in respect of pension schemes 22  5,658 (1,803)

Total comprehensive income for the year 9,953 1,451 
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ASSOCIATION STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 31 March 2022 
 

 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 60 to 96 form part of the financial statements 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Note 2022  2021  

£'000  £'000  

Turnover 3  32,523 31,500 

Operating expenditure 3  (26,192) (25,201)

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4  2,315 1,632 

Operating surplus 3  8,646 7,931 

Interest and financing costs 5  (4,759) (4,442)

Finance Income 6  12 20 

Gift Aid receivable 53 11 

Surplus for the year 3,952 3,520 

Actuarial gain / (loss) in respect of pension schemes 22  5,658 (1,803)

Total comprehensive income for the year 9,610 1,717 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
At 31 March 2022 
 

 
The accompanying notes on pages 60 to 96 form part of the financial statements.  
The financial statements were approved by the Board on 3rd August 2022 and signed on its behalf by: - 
                                                                            

       
Mark Lewis                                                              Ursula Bennion                                               Catherine Slater             
Chairman Chief Executive Company Secretary 
 

Note 2022  2021  

£'000  £'000  

Fixed Assets

Intangible Assets 11  2,393 2,073 

Housing properties 12  206,156 196,411 

Investment Properties 13  1,377 815 

Other property, plant and equipment 13  2,019 2,096 

211,945 201,395 

Current assets

Stock 14  458 438 

Debtors 15  3,008 1,765 

Short Term Investments 16  7,099 6,120 

Cash & Cash Equivalents 5,758 5,202 

16,323 13,525 

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 17  (12,264) (14,418)

Net current assets / (liabilities) 4,059 (893)

Total assets less current liabilities 216,004 200,502 

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 18  (157,278) (146,313)

Defined benefit pension liability 22  (167) (5,753)

Provision for deferred taxation 23  (265) (95)

Net assets 58,294 48,341 

Capital and reserves

Revenue reserve 58,294 48,341 

Total reserves 58,294 48,341 
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Registration number under the Co-operative and Community Benefits Society Act: 30668R 
ASSOCIATION STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
At 31 March 2022 

 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 60 to 96 form part of the financial statements.  
The financial statements were approved by the Board on 3rd August 2022 and signed on its behalf by: - 
 
 
                                                                        

       
 
Mark Lewis                                                              Ursula Bennion                                               Catherine Slater 
Chairman Chief Executive Company Secretary 

Note 2022  2021  

£'000  £'000  

Fixed Assets

Intangible Assets 11  2,393 2,073 

Housing properties 12  206,208 196,436 

Other property, plant and equipment 13  2,019 2,096 

210,620 200,605 

Current assets

Stock 14  458 438 

Debtors 15  3,358 1,858 

Short Term Investments 16  7,099 6,120 

Cash & Cash Equivalents 5,572 4,969 

16,487 13,385 

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 17  (12,223) (14,095)

Net current assets / (liabilities) 4,264 (710)

Total assets less current liabilities 214,884 199,895 

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 18  (157,278) (146,313)

Defined benefit pension liability 22  (167) (5,753)

Net assets 57,439 47,829 

Capital and reserves

Revenue reserve 57,439 47,829 

Total reserves 57,439 47,829 
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Registration number under the Co-operative and Community Benefits Society Act: 30668R 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN RESERVES 
At 31 March 2022 

 

 

ASSOCIATION STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN RESERVES 

At 31 March 2022 

 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 60 to 96 form part of the financial statements.  
  

2022  2021  

£'000  £'000  

At 1 April 48,341 46,890 

Surplus for the year 4,295 3,254 

Actuarial gain / (loss) in respect of pension schemes 5,658 (1,803)

Balance at 31 March 58,294 48,341 

Income and expenditure reserve

2022  2021  

£'000  £'000  

At 1 April 47,829 46,112 

Surplus for the year 3,952 3,520 

Actuarial gain / (loss) in respect of pension schemes 5,658 (1,803)

Balance at 31 March 57,439 47,829 

Income and expenditure reserve
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 31 March 2022 
 

 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 60 to 96 form part of the financial statements.  
 
 

Note 2022  2021  

£'000  £'000  

Net cash generated from operating activities 25  8,653 11,424 

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (16,528) (17,848)

Purchase of investment property -  (28)

Purchase of intangible assets (811) (920)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment 3,330 2,017 

Grants received 4,103 4,757 

Interest received 1 2 

Net cash flows from investing activities (9,905) (12,020)

Cash flows from financing activities

Interest paid (4,710) (4,350)

New Loans 10,000 10,000 

Repayment of Borrowings (2,503) (2,368)

Deposits to Short Term Investments (979) (1,612)

Net cash flows from financing activities 1,808 1,670 

Management of liquid resources

Cash withdrawn from money market deposit accounts -  -  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 556 1,074 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 5,202 4,128

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 5,758 5,202
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 March 2022 
 
1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
 The principal accounting policies are 

summarised below. They have all been 
applied consistently throughout the year 
and to the preceding year. 

 
 General information and basis of 

accounting 
 These financial statements are prepared in 

accordance with Financial Reporting 
Standard 102 – the applicable financial 
reporting standard in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland (FRS 102) and the Statement of 
Recommended Practice: Accounting 2018 
and comply with the Accounting Direction 
for Private Registered Providers of Social 
Housing 2019.  

 
 Trent & Dove Housing Association is a 

public benefit entity, as defined in FRS 102 
and applies the relevant paragraphs 
prefixed ‘PBE’ in FRS 102. 

  
 The presentation currency of these 

financial statements is sterling.  All 
amounts in the financial statements have 
been rounded to the nearest £1,000. 

 
 The accounting policies set out below have, 

unless otherwise stated, been applied 
consistently to all periods presented in 
these financial statements. 

 
 Judgements made by the directors, in the 

application of these accounting policies 
that have significant effect on the financial 
statements and estimates with a significant 
risk of material adjustment in the next year 
are discussed in note 2. 

 
 Measurement convention 
 The financial statements are prepared on 

the historical cost basis except that the 
following assets and liabilities are stated at 
their fair value: derivative financial 
instruments and investment property. 

 
 Basis of consolidation 

  The group financial statements consolidate 
the financial statements of the Association 
and its subsidiary undertakings drawn up 
to 31 March each year. 

  
 Going Concern 
 The financial statements have been 

prepared on a going concern basis which 
the directors consider to be appropriate for 
the following reasons. 

 
 The Group prepares a 30-year business 

plan which is updated and approved on an 
annual basis.  The most recent business 
plan was approved in May 2021 by the 
Board.   As well as considering the impact 
of a number of scenarios on the business 
plan the Board also adopted a stress testing 
framework against the base plan.  The 
stress testing impacts were measured 
against loan covenants and peak borrowing 
levels compared to agreed facilities, with 
potential mitigating actions identified to 
reduce expenditure.  Following the 
outbreak of Covid-19 the Group has 
undertaken a series of further scenario 
testing including severe but plausible 
downsides in the worst-case assessment.  

   
 The board, after reviewing the group and 

company budgets for 2021/22 and the 
group’s medium term financial position as 
detailed in the 30-year business plan 
including changes arising from the Covid-
19 pandemic, is of the opinion that, taking 
account of severe but plausible downsides, 
the group and company have adequate 
resources to continue in business for the 
foreseeable future.  In order to reach this 
conclusion, the Board have considered: 

  
• The property market – budget and business 

plan scenarios have taken account of 
delays in handovers, lower numbers of 
property sales, reductions in sales values 
and potential conversion of shared 
ownership sales to social homes;  

 
• Maintenance costs – budget and business 

plan scenarios have been modelled to take 
account of cost increases and delays in 
maintenance expenditure, with major 
works being phased into future years; 
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• Rent and service charge receivable – 

arrears and bad debts have been increased 
to allow for customer difficulties in making 
payments and budget and business plan 
scenarios to take account of potential 
future reductions in rents; 

 

• Liquidity – current available cash and 
unutilised loan facilities of £41.3m which 
gives significant headroom for committed 
spend and other forecast cash flows that 
arise for at least the next 20 months; 

  

 For this reason, the going concern basis has 
been adopted in preparing the financial 
statements. 

  

 Property, plant and equipment – housing 
properties 

 Housing properties are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Cost 
includes the cost of acquiring land and 
buildings and directly attributable 
development costs. Capitalisation ceases 
when substantially all the activities that are 
necessary to get the asset ready for use are 
complete. 

  

 Depreciation is charged so as to write down 
the net book value of housing properties to 
their estimated residual value, on a 
straight-line basis, over their useful 
economic lives. Freehold land is not 
depreciated. 

 

 Major components 
 Major components of housing properties, 

which have significantly different patterns 
of consumption of economic benefits, are 
treated as separate assets and depreciated 
over their expected useful economic lives 
as follows: 

  

Boilers 10 years 

Central Heating Systems 

Electric Heating 

25 years 

15 years 

Roofs 40 years 

Windows 25 years 

Doors 20 years 

Kitchens 15 years 

Bathrooms 25 years 

Electrics 30 years 

Structure 80 years 
  

 Properties held on long leases are 
depreciated over their useful economic 
lives or the lease duration if shorter. 

  

 Improvements 
 Where there are improvements to housing 

properties that are expected to provide 
incremental future benefits, these are 
capitalised and added to the carrying 
amount of the property. Any works to 
housing properties which do not replace a 
component or result in an incremental 
future benefit are charged as expenditure 
in surplus or deficit in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

 

 Leaseholders 
 Where the rights and obligations for 

improving a housing property reside with 
the leaseholder or tenant, any works to 
improve such properties incurred by the 
Association is recharged to the leaseholder 
and recognised in surplus or deficit in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income along 
with the corresponding income from the 
leaseholder or tenant. 

 
 Non-housing property, plant and 

equipment 
Non-housing property, plant and 
equipment is stated at historic cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any 
provision for impairment. Depreciation is 
provided on all non-housing property, 
plant and equipment, other than 
investment properties and freehold land, 
at rates calculated to write off the cost or 
valuation, less estimated residual value, or 
each asset on a straight-line basis over its 
expected useful life, as follows. 
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Freehold office building 50 years 

Furniture, fixtures and 

fittings 

5 years 

Motor vehicles 5 years 

Computer equipment 3 years 

Plant and equipment 10 years 

 

 

 

 Investment Properties 
 The classification of properties as 

investment property or property, plant and 
equipment is based upon the intended use 
of the property. Properties held to earn 
commercial rentals or for capital 
appreciation or both are classified as 
investment properties. Properties that are 
used for administrative purposes or that 
are held for the provision of social housing 
are treated as property, plant and 
equipment. Mixed use property is 
separated between investment property 
and property, plant and equipment. 

  
 Land is accounted for based on its intended 

use. Where land is acquired speculatively 
with the intention of generating a capital 
gain and/or a commercial rental return it is 
accounted for as an investment property. 
Where land is acquired for use in the 
provision of social housing or for a social 
benefit it is accounted for as property, 
plant and equipment.  

 
 Investment properties are measured at fair 

value annually with any change recognised 
in surplus or deficit in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

 
 Intangible assets 
 Intangible assets are stated at historic cost 

less accumulated amortisation and any 
provision for impairment. Amortisation is 
provided on all intangible assets at rates 
calculated to write off the cost of each 

asset on a straight-line basis over its 
expected useful life, as follows: 

  
Computer software 5 years 

 Impairment of social housing properties 
 Properties held for their social benefit are 

not held solely for the cash inflows they 
generate; they are also held for their 
service potential. 

  
 An assessment of impairment is made at 

each reporting date as to whether an 
indicator exists. If such an indicator exists, 
an impairment assessment is carried out 
and an estimate of the recoverable amount 
of the asset is made. Where the carrying 
amount of the asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount, an impairment loss is 
recognised in surplus or deficit in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. The 
recoverable amount of an asset is the 
higher of its value in use and fair value less 
costs to sell. Where assets are held for their 
service potential, value in use is 
determined by the present value of the 
asset’s remaining service potential plus the 
net amount expected to be received from 
its disposal. Depreciated replacement cost 
is taken as a suitable measurement model. 

  
 An impairment loss is reversed if the 

reasons for the impairment loss have 
ceased to apply and included in surplus or 
deficit in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 

 
 Social Housing Grant and other 

Government grants  
 Where grants are received from 

government agencies such as the Homes 
and Communities Agency, local authorities, 
devolved government agencies, health 
authorities and the European Commission 
which meet the definition of government 
grants they are recognised when there is 
reasonable assurance that the conditions 
attached to them will be complied with and 
that the grant will be received. 
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 Government grants are recognised using 

the accrual model and are classified either 
as a grant relating to revenue or a grant 
relating to assets. Grants relating to 
revenue are recognised in income on a 
systematic basis over the period in which 
related costs for which the grant is 
intended to compensate are recognised. 
Where a grant is receivable as 
compensation for expenses or losses 
already incurred or for the purpose of 
giving immediate financial support with no 
future related costs, it is recognised as 
revenue in the period in which it becomes 
receivable. Grants relating to assets are 
recognised in income on a systematic basis 
over the expected useful life of the asset.  

 
 Grants received for housing properties are 

recognised in income over the expected 
useful life of the housing property 
structure. Where a grant is received 
specifically for components of a housing 
property, the grant is recognised in income 
over the expected useful life of the 
component. 

 
 Grants received from non-government 

sources are recognised as revenue using 
the performance model. 

  
 Where a donation of land and/or other 

assets is received or land and/or other 
assets are acquired at below market value 
from a government source, this is 
accounted for as a non-monetary 
government grant and included in the 
Statement of Financial Position as a 
liability. 

 
 Where a donation of land and/or other 

assets is received or acquisitions of land 
and/or other assets at below their market 
value from a third party that does not meet 
the definition of a government source the 
transaction is recognised as an asset in the 
Statement of Financial Position at fair 
value, taking account of any restrictions on 

the use of the asset and income equivalent 
to the difference between any amounts 
paid or payable for the asset and the fair 
value of the asset is recognised in surplus 
or deficit in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income as a future 
donation when future performance-
related conditions are met. 

 
 Recycling of grants 

Where there is a requirement to either 
repay or recycle a grant received for an 
asset that has been disposed of, a provision 
is included in the  
Statement of Financial Position to 
recognise this obligation as a liability. 
When approval is received from the 
funding body to use the grant for a specific 
development, the amount previously 
recognised as a provision for the  

 recycling of the grant is reclassified as a 
creditor in the Statement of Financial 
Position. 

 
 For shared ownership staircasing sales, 

when full staircasing has not taken place, 
the recycling of the grant may be deferred 
if the net sales proceeds are insufficient to 
meet the grant obligation relating to the 
disposal and not be recognised as a 
provision. On subsequent staircasing sales, 
the requirement to recycle the grant 
becomes an obligation if sufficient sales 
proceeds are generated to meet the 
obligation and a provision is recognised at 
this point. 

 
 On disposal of an asset for which 

government grant was received, if there is 
no obligation to repay the grant, any 
unamortised grant remaining within 
liabilities in the Statement of Financial 
Position related to this asset is 
derecognised as a liability and recognised 
as revenue in surplus or deficit in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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 Leased assets 
 At inception, the Group assesses 

agreements that transfer the right to use 
assets. The assessment considers whether 
the arrangement is, or contains, a lease 
based on the substance of the 
arrangement. 

 
 Finance Leased Assets 
 Leases of assets that transfer substantially 

all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership are classified as finance leases. 

 
 Finance leases are capitalised at 

commencement of the lease as assets at 
the fair value of the leased asset or, if 
lower, the present value of the minimum 
lease payments calculated using the 
interest rate implicit in the lease. 

 
 Assets are depreciated over the shorter of 

the lease term and the estimated useful life 
of the asset. Assets are assessed for 
impairment at each reporting date. 

 
           The capital element of lease obligations is 

recorded as a liability on inception of the 
arrangement. Lease payments are 
apportioned between capital repayment 
and finance charge, using the effective 
interest rate method, to produce a 
constant rate of charge on the balance of 
the capital payments outstanding. 

 
 Operating leased assets 
 Leases that do not transfer all the risks and 

rewards of ownership are classified as 
operating leases. 

  
 Payments under operating leases are 

charged to surplus or deficit in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the 
lease. 

  
 Interest payable 
 Borrowing costs are interest and other 

costs incurred in connection with the 

borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs are 
calculated using the effective interest rate, 
which is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments or 
receipts through the expected life of a 
financial instrument and is determined on 
the basis of the carrying amount of the 
financial liability at initial recognition. 
Under the effective interest method, the 
amortised cost of a financial liability is the 
present value of future cash payments 
discounted at the effective interest rate, 
and the interest expense in a period equals 
the carrying amount of the financial liability 
at the beginning of a period multiplied by 
the effective interest rate for the period. 

 
 Interest is capitalised on borrowings 

related to the development of qualifying 
assets, to the extent that it accrues in 
respect of the period of development if it 
represents 
a. An interest on borrowings specifically 

financing the development 
programme after deduction of related 
grants received in advance; or 

b. A fair amount of interest on 
borrowings of the association as a 
whole after deduction of social housing 
grant received in advance to the extent 
that they can be deemed to be 
financing the development 
programme. 

 
 Taxation 
 Current tax is provided at amounts 

expected to be paid (or recovered) using 
the tax rates and laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the 
Statement of Financial Position date. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all 
timing differences that have originated but 
not reversed at the Statement of Financial 
Position date where transactions or events 
that result in an obligation to pay more tax 
in the future or a right to pay less tax in the 
future have occurred at the Statement of 
Financial Position date. Timing differences 
are differences between the  
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 Group’s taxable surpluses and its results as 

stated in the financial statements that arise 
from the inclusion of gains and losses in tax 
assessments in periods different from 
those in which they are recognised in the 
financial statements. 

  
 Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred 

tax assets are recognised only to the extent 
that, on the basis of all available evidence, 
it can be regarded as more likely than not 
that there will be suitable taxable profits 
from which the future reversal of the 
underlying timing differences can be 
deducted. 

 
 Deferred tax is measured using the tax 

rates and laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the Statement of 
Financial Position date that are expected to 
apply to the reversal of the timing 
difference. Deferred tax relating to 
property, plant and equipment measured 
using the revaluation model and 
investment property is measured using the 
tax rates and allowances that apply to the 
sale of the asset. 

 
 Pensions 
 Social Housing Pension Scheme 
 For the year ended 31 March 2018, the 

SHPS pension obligation had been 
accounted for as a defined contribution 
scheme, as there had not been sufficient 
information available to identify each 
employers’ share of pension assets and 
pension liabilities. 

 Since the year ended 31 March 2019 
sufficient information is available identify 
each employers scheme assets and 
liabilities and so defined benefit accounting 
has been applied. For accounting purposes, 
the relevant date for accounting for this 
change from defined contribution to 
defined benefit accounting is 1 April 2018. 
The scheme assets are measured at fair 
value and the scheme liabilities are 
measured on an actuarial basis using the 

projected unit credit method and are 
discounted at appropriate high-quality 
corporate bond rates. 

 
 The deficit funding agreement liability that 

was previously recognised within creditors 
of £132k was derecognised on 1 April 2018, 
and an initial net defined benefit pension 
liability of £139k was recognised at this 
date. The resulting net difference of £7k 
was recognised in other comprehensive 
income. 
 
As at 31 March 2021 the net defined 
benefit pension deficit liability was £132k, 
which wasincluded within the provisions 
for pensions liability in the financial 
statements. 

 
 In the year ended 31 March 2021, interest 

is calculated on the net defined liability and 
remeasurements are reported in other 
comprehensive income. 

 
 Local Government Pension Scheme 
 The Group participated in a local 

government pension scheme until 31st 
March 2017. This is a multi-employer 
scheme where it is possible for individual 
employers as admitted bodies to identify 
their share of the assets and liabilities of 
the pension scheme. For this scheme, the 
amounts charged to operating surplus are 
the  

 costs arising from employee services 
rendered during the period and the cost of 
plan introductions, benefit changes, 
settlements and curtailments. They are 
included as part of colleagues costs. The 
net interest cost on the net defined benefit 
pension liability is charged to revenue and 
included within finance costs. 
Remeasurement comprising actuarial gains 
and losses and the return on scheme assets 
(excluding amounts included in net interest 
on the net defined liability) are recognised 
immediately in other comprehensive 
income. 
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 Defined benefit schemes are funded, with 

the assets of the scheme held separately 
from those of the Group, in separate 
trustee administered funds. Pension 
scheme costs are measured at fair value 
and liabilities are measured on an actuarial 
basis using the projected unit credit 
method. The actuarial valuations are 
obtained at least triennially and are 
updated at each Statement of Financial 
Position date. 

  
 Defined contribution scheme 
 The Group participates in a defined 

contribution scheme where the amount 
charged to surplus or deficit in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income in 
respect of pension costs and other post-
retirement benefits is the contributions 
payable in the year. Differences between 
contributions payable in the year and 

 contributions actually paid are shown as 
either accruals or prepayments in the 
Statement of Financial Position.  

 
 Turnover 

Turnover represents rent and service 
charges receivable (net of rent and service 
charge losses from voids) and disposal 
proceeds of current assets such as shared 
ownership first tranche sales at completion 
together with revenue grants from local 
authorities and the Homes and 
Communities Agency. Service charge 
 
income is recognised when expenditure is 
incurred as this is considered to be the point 
at which the service has been performed 
and the revenue recognition criteria met. 

 
 Shared ownership property sales 
 Shared ownership properties, including 

those under construction, are split 
between non-current assets and current 
assets. The split is determined by the 
percentage of the property to be sold 
under the first tranche disposal which is 
shown on initial recognition as a current 

asset, with the remainder classified as a 
non-current asset within property, plant 
and equipment. Where this would result in 
a surplus on the disposal of the current 
asset that would exceed the anticipated 
overall surplus, the surplus on disposal of 
the first tranche is limited to the overall 
surplus by adjusting the costs allocated to 
current or non-current assets. 

  
 Proceeds from first tranche disposals are 

accounted for as turnover in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income of the period in 
which the disposals occur and the cost of 
sale is transferred from current assets to 
operating costs. Proceeds from subsequent 
tranche sales are treated as disposals of 
fixed assets. 

 
 Service charge sinking funds and service 

costs 
 Unutilised contributions to service charge 

sinking funds and over-recovery of service 
costs which are repayable to tenants or 
leaseholders or are intended to be 
reflected in reductions to future service 
charge contributions are recognised as a 
liability in the Statement of Financial 
Position. The amount included in liabilities 
in respect of service charge sinking funds 
includes interest credited to the fund. 
Where there has been an under-recovery 
of leaseholders’ or tenants’ variable service 
charges and recovery of the outstanding 
balance is virtually certain, the balance is 
recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position as a trade receivable. Debit and 
credit balances on individual schemes are 
not aggregated as there is no right of set-
off. 

  
 Financial instruments 
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are 

recognised when the Group becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. 
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 Financial assets carried at amortised cost 
 Financial assets carried at amortised cost 

comprise rent arrears, trade and other 
receivables and cash and cash equivalents. 
Financial assets are initially recognised at 
fair value plus directly attributable 
transaction costs. After initial recognition, 
they are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method. 
Discounting is omitted where the effect of 
discounting is immaterial. 

 
 If there is objective evidence that there is 

an impairment loss, the amount of the loss 
is  

 measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate. The carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced accordingly. 

 
 A financial asset is derecognised when the 

contractual rights to the cash flows expire, 
or when the financial asset and all 
subsequent risks and rewards are 
transferred. 

 
 If an arrangement constitutes a financing 

transaction, the financial asset is measured 
at the present value of the future payments 
discounted at a market rate of interest for 
a similar debt instrument. 

 
 Financial liabilities carried at amortised 

cost 
 These financial liabilities include trade and 

other payables and other interest-bearing 
loans and borrowings. 

 
Non-current debt instruments which meet 
the necessary conditions in FRS 102 are 
initially recognised at fair value adjusted  

 

 for any directly attributable transaction 
costs and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, with interest-related charges 
recognised as an expense in finance costs 

in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. Discounting is omitted where the 
effect of discounting is immaterial. 

 

 A financial liability is derecognised only 
when the contractual obligation is 
extinguished, that is, when the obligation is 
discharged, cancelled or expires. 

 

 Cash and cash equivalents 
 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in 

hand and demand deposits, together with 
other short term highly liquid investments 
that are readily converted into known 
amounts of cash and are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 

 Gift aid payments 
 Gift aid payments are charged as 

distributions of reserves in accordance 
with the guidance included in the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants technical release 
‘Guidance on donations by a company to its 
parent charity’. 

 

2 SIGNIFICANT MANAGEMENT 
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

 

The preparation of the financial statements 
requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of policies and 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
income and expenses. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and various other 
factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of 
which form the basis of making the 
judgements about carrying values of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates. 
 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised and 
in any future periods affected. 
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 Significant management judgements 

The following are management 
judgements in applying the accounting 
policies of the Group that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements. 

 

 Impairment of social housing properties 
The Group have to make an assessment as 
to whether an indicator of impairment 
exists. In making the judgement, 
management considered the detailed 
criteria set out in the SORP. 
 

Estimation Uncertainty 
The Group makes estimates and 
assumptions concerning the future. The 
resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual 
results. The estimates and assumptions 
that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are addressed below. 
 

Fair value measurement 
Management uses valuation techniques to 
determine the fair value of assets. This 
involves developing estimates and 
assumptions consistent with how market 
participants would price the instrument. 
Management base the assumptions on 
observable data as far as possible but this 
is not always available. In that case, 
management uses the best information 
available. Estimated fair values may vary 
from the actual process that would be 
achievable in an arm's length transaction at 
the reporting date. 
 

Defined benefit pension scheme 
The Group has obligations to pay pension 
benefits to certain employees. The cost of 
these benefits and the present value of the 
obligation depend on a number of factors, 
including; life expectancy, salary increases, 
asset valuations and the discount rate on 
corporate bonds. Management estimates 

these factors in determining the net 
pension obligation in the balance sheet.  

  

The assumptions reflect the historical 
experience and current trends. 
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3 TURNOVER, OPERATING COSTS AND OPERATING SURPLUS 

Continuing activities 
 

 
 
 
  

Turnover Operating 

Expenditure

Surplus on 

disposals

Movement 

on 

investment 

properties

Operating 

Surplus/ 

(Deficit)

Turnover Operating 

Expenditure

Surplus on 

disposals

Movement 

on 

investment 

properties

Operating 

Surplus/ 

(Deficit)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £'000 £’000

Social housing lettings 30,482 24,321 -  -  6,161 28,662 22,191 -  -  6,471 

Other social housing activities

1,377 880 -  -  497 1,969 1,660 -  -  309 

142 338 -  -  (196) 159 391 -  -  (232)

-  531 -  -  (531) -  494 -  -  (494)

-  -  2,315 -  2,315 -  -  1,632 -  1,632 

404 49 -  -  355 343 27 -  -  316 
-  

32,405 26,119 2,315 -  8,601 31,133 24,763 1,632 -  8,002 

Activities other than social housing activities

Lettings 122 91 -  -  31 95 52 -  -  43 

-  -  -  562 562 -  -  -  (352) (352)

Other 125 96 -  -  29 379 451 -  -  (72)
                                                                                                                                                     

32,652 26,306 2,315 562 9,223 31,607 25,266 1,632 (352) 7,621 
                                                                                                                                                     

Turnover Operating 

Expenditure

Surplus on 

disposals

Movement 

on 

investment 

properties

Operating 

Surplus/ 

(Deficit)

Turnover Operating 

Expenditure

Surplus on 

disposals

Movement 

on 

investment 

properties

Operating 

Surplus/ 

(Deficit)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £'000 £’000

Social housing lettings 30,482 24,321 -  -  6,161 28,662 22,191 -  -  6,471 

Other social housing activities

1,377 880 -  -  497 1,969 1,660 -  -  309 

142 338 -  -  (196) 159 391 -  -  (232)

-  531 -  -  (531) -  494 -  -  (494)

-  -  2,315 -  2,315 -  -  1,632 -  1,632 

404 49 -  -  355 343 27 -  -  316 

32,405 26,119 2,315 -  8,601 31,133 24,763 1,632 -  8,002 

Activities other than social housing activities

Other 118 73 -  -  45 367 438 -  -  (71)
                                                                                                                                                     

32,523 26,192 2,315 -  8,646 31,500 25,201 1,632 -  7,931 
                                                                                                                                                     

Other

GROUP

2022

Surplus on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment

2021

GROUP

ASSOCIATION ASSOCIATION

1st tranche property sales

Development costs not capitalised

2022 2021

Charges for support services

Movement on revaluation of 

investment properties

Other

Surplus on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment

Charges for support services

1st tranche property sales

Development costs not capitalised



Annual Report & Accounts for year ended 31 March 2022 
Financial Statements  

 

70 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 March 2022 
 
3 TURNOVER, OPERATING COSTS AND OPERATING SURPLUS – GROUP & ASSOCIATION 

(continued) 
 
Particulars of income and expenditure from social housing lettings – group & association 
 

 
 

 
 
  

General 

Needs 

Housing

Supported 

Housing and 

Housing for 

Older People Other 2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Income

Rents receivable 27,024 775 816 28,615 27,240 

Service charge income 561 302 565 1,428 1,027 

Amortised government grant 336 79 24 439 395 

Turnover from social housing lettings 27,921 1,156 1,405 30,482 28,662 

Expenditure

Management 5,919 170 178 6,267 6,412 

Service charge costs 795 428 800 2,023 1,536 

Routine maintenance 3,591 141 38 3,770 2,885 

Planned maintenance 3,367 101 -  3,468 2,391 

Major repairs expenditure 2,220 87 24 2,331 3,089 

Bad debts 116 4 6 126 73 

Depreciation of housing properties 5,118 308 159 5,585 5,293 

Depreciation of other tangible fixed assets 246 7 7 260 222 

Amortisation of intangible assets 464 13 14 491 290 
                                                                          

Operating Expenditure 21,836 1,259 1,226 24,321 22,191 
                                                                          

Operating surplus on social housing lettings 6,085 (103) 179 6,161 6,471 

Void losses 243 25 -  268 418 
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4 SURPLUS ON DISPOSAL OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Sales of subsequent tranche shared ownership properties 573 340 

Costs of sale (334) (187)

Surplus on disposal 239 153 

Sales of properties under the right to buy 314 822 

Costs of sale (75) (114)

Surplus on disposal 239 708 

Sales of properties at market rate 704 -  

Costs of sale (110) -  

Surplus on disposal 594 -  

Sales of properties under the right to acquire 1,738 855 

Costs of sale (496) (84)

Surplus on disposal 1,242 771 

Sales of motor vehicles 1 -  

Costs of sale -  -  

Surplus on disposal 1 -  

Total Surplus on Disposal of Property, Plant & Equipment 2,315 1,632 
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5 INTEREST AND FINANCING COSTS 

  
 
6 OTHER FINANCE INCOME 

  
 
7 SURPLUS BEFORE TAXATION – GROUP 

 Surplus before taxation is arrived at after charging / (crediting):  

 
 

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Bank loans and overdrafts 4,645 4,353 

Net interest on LGPS defined benefit l iability (see note 22) 112 88 

Net interest on SHPS defined benefit l iability (see note 22) 2 1 

4,759 4,442 

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Bank interest receivable 1 8 

1 8 

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Interest receivable from:-

  bank and other sources 1 8 

  on loans to group undertakings 11 12 

12 20 

GROUP

ASSOCIATION

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Depreciation of property, plant & equipment 5,845 5,515 

Provision for bad debts 126 73 

Government grants (439) (395)

External auditors' remuneration (including VAT)

- for audit services 47 44 

- for non-audit services 21 1 

Internal auditors' remuneration (including VAT)

- for audit services 38 26 

- for non-audit services -  12 

Operating lease rentals:

- motor vehicles 182 133 
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7 SURPLUS BEFORE TAXATION – ASSOCIATION 

 Surplus before taxation is arrived at after charging / (crediting): 

 
 
 

8 STAFF COSTS 
 

  
 

  
  
 
  

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Depreciation of property, plant & equipment 5,845 5,515 

Provision for bad debts 126 73 

Government grants (439) (395)

External auditors' remuneration (including VAT)

- for audit services 32 30 

- for non-audit services 9 1 

Internal auditors' remuneration (including VAT)

- for audit services 38 26 

- for non-audit services -  12 

Operating lease rentals:

- motor vehicles 182 133 

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Employee costs:

Wages and salaries 6,407 6,511 

Social security costs 566 570 

Other pension costs (see note 22) 368 486 

7,341 7,567 

2022 2021 

No. No. 

The full time equivalent number of employees who received 

emoluments, including pension contributions, in excess of 

£60,000 are shown below.

Salary Band £'000

60,000 - 69,999 4 8 

70,000 - 79,999 3 -  

110,000 - 119,999 2 4 

130,000 - 139,999 1 1 

140,000 - 149,999 1 -  

160,000 - 169,999 -  1 

170,000 - 179,999 1 -  
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8 STAFF COSTS 
 

  
 
 
9 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND TRANSACTIONS 

  
  

Directors are defined as members of the Board, the Chief Executive and any other person who is a member 
of the Executive Management team. 
The Chief Executive is an ordinary member of the pension scheme. No enhanced or special terms apply. 

  
 

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2022 2021 

No. No. 

The average full time equivalent number of employees was:

Administration 30 29 

Development 7 7 

Housing 150 155 

187 191 

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Directors who are executive staff members

Wages and salaries 623 698

Social security costs 71 77

Other pension costs 59 57

Non-executive directors

Wages and salaries 68 62 

Total 821 894 

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Remuneration of the highest paid director, excluding pension 

contributions:

Emoluments 163 154 
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9 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND TRANSACTIONS 
 

  
 
10 GROUP TAX ON SURPLUS ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 
  
 

 
 
 
 

Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors

Basic 

salary

Expenses Total  

2022

Total  

2021

£ £ £ £ 

Mark Lewis (Chair) 11,305 468 11,773 11,443 

Afzal Ismail (Vice Chair) 4,579 -  4,579 9,321 

Mark Ashby 7,178 -  7,178 5,907 

John Doherty 2,636 -  2,636 -  

Michael Finister-Smith 6,205 -  6,205 -  

Michael Hew 5,272 -  5,272 3,954 

Rolf Levesley 5,272 147 5,419 3,954 

Gary Middleton 7,250 -  7,250 7,250 

Geoff Prior 6,282 -  6,282 6,521 

Kathryn Robb 7,230 40 7,270 7,512 

Anita Wanowicz 5,272 48 5,320 6,643 

68,481 703 69,184 62,505 

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

The tax charge comprises:

Current tax on surplus on ordinary activities

UK Corporation Tax at 19% -  -  

Total current tax -  -  

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of timing differences 140 (67)

Adjustments in respect of prior periods -  -  

Effect of tax rate change on opening balance 30 -  

Total deferred tax (see note 23) 170 (67)

Total tax on surplus on ordinary activities 170 (67)
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10 GROUP TAX ON SURPLUS ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 
  

  
 

On 1 April 2009, Trent & Dove Housing Limited converted from being a company limited by guarantee to a 
charitable organisation, a Registered Society under the Co-operative and Community Benefits Society Act.  
This change had the effect of mitigating tax liabilities.  

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 4,465 3,187 

Surplus on ordinary activities multiplied by rate of 

corporation tax of 19% (2021: 19%) 848 605 

Effects of:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 9 67 

Income not taxable in determining taxable surplus (107) (3)

Non-taxable surplus on charitable activities (751) (669)

Chargeable losses 107 (67)

Adjustments to tax charge in respect of previous periods - 

deferred tax -  -  

Remeasurement of deferred tax for changes in tax rates 64 -  

Group total tax charge for the period 170 (67)

The differences between the total tax charge shown above and the amount calculated 

by applying the standard rate of UK corporation tax to the surplus before tax is as 

follows:
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10 ASSOCIATION TAX ON SURPLUS ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

The tax charge comprises:

Current tax on surplus on ordinary activities

UK Corporation Tax at 19% (2021: 19%) -  -  

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of timing differences -  -  

Effect of increase in tax rate on opening liability -  -  

Total deferred tax (see note 23) -  -  

Total tax on surplus on ordinary activities -  -  

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 3,952 3,520 

Surplus on ordinary activities multiplied by rate of 

corporation tax of 19% (2021: 19%) 751 669 

Effects of:

Losses Eliminated -  -  

Fixed asset differences -  -  

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes -  -  

Income not taxable in determining taxable surplus -  -  

Non-taxable surplus on charitable activities (751) (669)

Adjust opening deferred tax to average rate of 19% -  -  

Deferred tax not recognised -  -  

Association total tax charge for the period -  -  

The differences between the total tax charge shown above and the amount calculated 

by applying the standard rate of UK corporation tax to the surplus before tax is as 

follows:
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11 INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

  

  
 
 

Computer 

Software

£'000 

Cost

At 1 April  2021 3,020 

Additions 811 

At 31 March 2022 3,831 

Amortisation

At 1 April  2021 947 

Charged in year 491 

At 31 March 2022 1,438 

Net book value

At 31 March 2022 2,393 

At 31 March 2021 2,073 
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12 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS – HOUSING PROPERTIES – GROUP 

 

 

Freehold land and buildings with a carrying amount of £70,687,000 (2021: £70,618,000) have been pledged 

to secure borrowings of the Association. The Association is not allowed to pledge these assets as security for 

other borrowings or to sell them to another entity. 

Social 

housing 

properties 

held for 

letting

Social 

housing 

properties 

under 

construction

Shared 

ownership 

housing 

properties 

held for 

letting

Shared 

ownership 

housing 

properties 

under 

construction

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost

At 1 April  2021 220,288 9,959 17,528 365 248,140 

Additions -  9,358 -  1,827 11,185 

Schemes completed 14,025 (14,025) 1,504 (1,504) -  

Works to existing properties 5,160 -  -  -  5,160 

Disposals (2,048) -  (362) -  (2,410)

At 31 March 2022 237,425 5,292 18,670 688 262,075 

Depreciation

At 1 April  2021 50,897 -  832 -  51,729 

Charged in year 5,426 -  159 -  5,585 

Released on disposals (1,367) -  (28) -  (1,395)

At 31 March 2022 54,956 -  963 -  55,919 

Depreciated cost

At 31 March 2022 182,469 5,292 17,707 688 206,156 

At 31 March 2021 169,391 9,959 16,696 365 196,411 

Expenditure on works to existing properties

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Amounts capitalised:

Replacement of components 1,416 1,077 

Improvements 3,744 1,403 

Sub-Total 5,160 2,480 

Amounts charged to Statement of Comprehensive 

Income 2,331 3,089 

Total 7,491 5,569 
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12 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS – HOUSING PROPERTIES – ASSOCIATION 
 

 
 
 
  

Social 

housing 

properties 

held for 

letting

Social 

housing 

properties 

under 

construction

Shared 

ownership 

housing 

properties 

held for 

letting

Shared 

ownership 

housing 

properties 

under 

construction

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost

At 1 April  2021 220,288 9,984 17,528 365 248,165 

Additions -  9,385 -  1,827 11,212 

Schemes completed 14,073 (14,073) 1,504 (1,504) -  

Works to existing properties 5,160 -  -  -  5,160 

Disposals (2,048) -  (362) -  (2,410)

At 31 March 2022 237,473 5,296 18,670 688 262,127 

Depreciation

At 1 April  2021 50,897 -  832 -  51,729 

Charged in year 5,426 -  159 -  5,585 

Released on disposals (1,367) -  (28) -  (1,395)

At 31 March 2022 54,956 -  963 -  55,919 

Depreciated cost

At 31 March 2022 182,517 5,296 17,707 688 206,208 

At 31 March 2021 169,391 9,984 16,696 365 196,436 
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13 OTHER PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT – GROUP 
  

 
 
The depreciation of freehold offices at 1 April 2021 includes the impairment losses of £1,347,000 which 

arose when the main Burton office was subject to revaluation reviews in May 2010, February 2014 and 

January 2018. 

Freehold offices with a carrying amount of £1,530,000 are held as security against the company’s share of 

the deficit on the Staffordshire County Council Pension Fund. 

The investment properties have been valued on an annual basis since March 2014. The latest valuation was 

as at 31 March 2022 and was completed by Johnson Fellows LLP. 

 

 

  

Investment 

properties

Freehold 

offices

Computers 

and office 

equipment

Plant and 

Equipment

Motor 

Vehicles

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost

At 1 April  2021 815 3,567 1,166 104 58 5,710 

Additions -  121 62 -  -  183 

Revaluations 562 -  -  -  -  562 

Disposals -  -  -  -  (11) (11)

At 31 March 2022 1,377 3,688 1,228 104 47 6,444 

Depreciation

At 1 April  2021 -  1,987 707 47 58 2,799 

Charged in year -  40 209 11 -  260 

Released on disposals -  -  -  -  (11) (11)

At 31 March 2022 -  2,027 916 58 47 3,048 

Net book value

At 31 March 2022 1,377 1,661 312 46 -  3,396 

At 31 March 2021 815 1,580 459 57 -  2,911 
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13      OTHER PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT – ASSOCIATION 

 

 
 
  
14 STOCK – GROUP AND ASSOCIATION  

 
 
  

Freehold 

offices

Computers 

and office 

equipment

Plant and 

Equipment

Motor 

Vehicles

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost

At 1 April  2021 3,567 1,166 104 58 4,895 

Additions 121 62 -  -  183 

Disposals -  -  -  (11) (11)

At 31 March 2022 3,688 1,228 104 47 5,067 

Depreciation

At 1 April  2021 1,987 707 47 58 2,799 

Charged in year 40 209 11 -  260 

Released on disposals -  -  -  (11) (11)

At 31 March 2022 2,027 916 58 47 3,048 

Net book value

At 31 March 2022 1,661 312 46 -  2,019 

At 31 March 2021 1,580 459 57 -  2,096 

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Completed properties for sale 175 251 

Work in progress 229 122 

Raw materials and consumables 54 65 

458 438 
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15 DEBTORS – GROUP 

  
 
 DEBTORS – ASSOCIATION 

 
 
 

16 SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS 
  

As a condition of the loan with The Housing Finance Corporation (THFC) a total of £1.273m (2021: £1.271m) 
is held in an Interest Service Reserve Fund and is invested at the instruction of Trent & Dove. 
 
In addition, short term investments totalling £5.826m (2021: £4.848m) are held as security against the 
company’s share of the deficit on the Staffordshire County Council Pension Fund. 
 
  

 
  

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Amounts falling due within one year:

Rent and service charges arrears 772 772 

Less: Provision for bad and doubtful debts : rent and 

service charges arrears (534) (565)

238 207 

Other debtors 876 883 

Less: Provision for bad and doubtful debts: other debtors (4) (8)

Prepayments and accrued income 1,898 683 

3,008 1,765 

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Amounts falling due within one year:

Rent and service charges arrears 772 772 

Less: Provision for bad and doubtful debts : rent and 

service charges arrears (534) (565)

238 207 

Amounts owed by group undertakings 387 352 

Other debtors 840 852 

Less: Provision for bad and doubtful debts: other debtors (4) (7)

Prepayments and accrued income 1,897 454 

3,358 1,858 
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17 CREDITORS:  AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR – GROUP 

  
 
CREDITORS:  AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR – ASSOCIATION 

 
 
18 CREDITORS:  AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR – GROUP & ASSOCIATION 

  
The loans are secured on freehold housing properties. The fixed rate loans have a weighted average interest 
rate of 4.14% (2021: 4.15%) and the weighted average year until which they are fixed is 2034. In addition to 
the above debt, at 31 March 2022 the Association had undrawn loan facilities of £115.867m (2021: 
£45.856m) of which £35.505m was available for immediate drawdown. 
 

The total accumulated amount of capital grant received or receivable at the balance sheet date is £35.9m 
(2021: £31.8m). 

  

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Bank loans and overdrafts (see note 21) 2,654 2,503 

Rents received in advance 1,378 1,271 

Trade creditors 1,355 953 

Other taxation and social security 152 129 

Other creditors 1,680 3,603 

Government grants 482 434 

Accruals and deferred income 4,563 5,525 

12,264 14,418 

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Bank loans and overdrafts (see note 21) 2,654 2,503 

Rents received in advance 1,378 1,271 

Trade creditors 1,342 893 

Amounts owed to group undertakings 222 21 

Other taxation and social security 153 132 

Other creditors 1,676 3,603 

Government grants 482 434 

Accruals and deferred income 4,316 5,238 

12,223 14,095 

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Bank Loans (see note 24) 125,258 117,948 

Financing costs (400) (439)

Government grants (see note 19) 32,234 28,671 

Recycled Capital Grant Fund (see note 20) 186 133 

157,278 146,313 
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19 DEFERRED INCOME – GOVERNMENT GRANTS 

  
The total value of government grants receivable up to 31st March 2022 was £35,885,000. 
 

 
 
20 RECYCLED CAPITAL GRANT FUND – GROUP & ASSOCIATION 

  
 
 

 
 
21 BANK LOANS – GROUP & ASSOCIATION 

  
 
 

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

At 1 April 29,105 24,749 

Grants receivable 4,189 4,757 

Amortisation to Statement of Comprehensive Income (439) (395)

Reclassified on Disposal (139) (6)

Balance at 31 March 32,716 29,105 

Due within one year 482 434 

Due after one year 32,234 28,671 

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

At 1 April 133 126 

Capital grant recycled 139 7 

Interest accrued -  -  

Recycling of grant (86) -  

Balance at 31 March 186 133 

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Bank loans are repayable as follows:

Between one and two years 3,067 2,916 

Between two and five years 13,773 13,254 

After five years 107,980 101,303 

124,820 117,473 

On demand or within one year 2,654 2,503 
`

127,474 119,976 
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22 RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 
 

Staffordshire County Council Pension Fund 
The Staffordshire County Council Pension Fund is a multi-employer scheme that is administered by 
Staffordshire County Council under the regulations governing the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), 
a defined benefit scheme. The most recent actuarial valuations of scheme assets were carried out as at 31 
March 2019. The present value of the defined benefit obligation, the related current service cost and the past 
service cost were measured using the projected unit credit method. 
 
A decision was made to close the fund to future accrual and remove the salary link to CPI + 2% effective from 
1 April 2017. This decision was made by the Board of Trent & Dove on 19 September 2016, following 
consultation with members. This was considered to trigger a demonstrable event requiring the change in 
salary assumptions, reflecting Trent & Dove’s realistic expectation for salary growth for the LGPS members, to 
be included in the pension deficit valuation as at March 2021 and March 2022. 
 

 
 
Mortality assumptions: 
Life expectancy is based on the Fund’s Vita Curves with improvements in line with the CMI 2021 model, with 
a 0% weighting of 2021 (and 2020) data, standard smoothing (Sk7), initial adjustment of 0.25% and a long term 
improvement rate of 1.5% p.a. Based on these assumptions, the average future life expectancies at age 65 are 
summarised below: 

 
 

 

2022 2021 

Key assumptions used:

Pension Increase Rate 3.20% 2.85%

Salary Increase Rate 3.20% 2.85%

Discount Rate 2.70% 2.00%

Valuation at

2022 2021 

years years 

Retiring today:

Males 21.2 21.4 

Females 23.8 24.0 

Retiring in 20 years:

Males 22.2 22.5 

Females 25.5 25.7 

Valuation at

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Net interest cost 112 88 

Plan introductions, changes, curtailments and settlements (7) (7)

105 81 

Recognised in other comprehensive income (5,726) 1,695 

Total cost relating to defined benefit scheme (5,621) 1,776 

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in respect of 

these defined benefit schemes are as follows:
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22 RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Management have made the decision to cap the LGPS scheme surplus to nil on the grounds of materiality. 

There may be the potential to recognise the surplus of £412k, but this is not material to financial statements. 

 
 
 

 
 

 

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Present value of defined benefit obligations 34,703 37,129 

Fair value of scheme assets (35,115) (31,508)

Net asset ceiling 412 -  

Deficit -  5,621 

Net liability recognised in the Statement of Financial Position -  5,621 

The amount included in the Statement of Financial Position arising from the Group's 

obligations in respect of its defined benefit retirement benefit scheme is as follows:

Reconciliation of the effects of the Net Asset Ceiling

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Net asset ceiling at 1 April -  -  

Restriction of LGPS Pension Fund surplus 412 -  

Net Asset Ceiling at 31 March 412 -  

Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

At 1 April 37,129 29,668 

Interest cost 735 674 

Benefits paid (718) (687)

Changes in demographic assumptions (182) 433 

Changes in financial assumptions (2,350) 7,443 

Other experience 89 (402)

At 31 March 34,703 37,129 
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22 RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 
 

 

 
 
 

  
 
 
 
The Pensions Trust – Social Housing Pension Scheme 
The company participates in the Social Housing Pension Scheme (the Scheme), a multi-employer scheme 
which provides benefits to some 500 non-associated employers. The Scheme is a defined benefit scheme in 
the UK. 
 
The Scheme is subject to funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004 which came into force on 30 
December 2005. This, together with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and Technical Actuarial 
Standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out the framework for funding defined benefit 
occupational pension schemes in the UK. 
 
The last completed triennial valuation of the scheme for funding purposes was carried out as at 30 September 
2020. This valuation revealed a deficit of £1,560m. A Recovery Plan has been put in place with the aim of 
removing this deficit by 31 March 2028. 
 
The Scheme is classified as a ‘last-man standing arrangement’. Therefore, the company is potentially liable for 
other participating employers’ obligations if those employers are unable to meet their share of the scheme 
deficit following withdrawal from the Scheme. Participating employers are legally required to meet their share 
of the Scheme deficit on an annuity purchase basis on withdrawal from the Scheme. 
 

Movements in the fair value of scheme assets were as follows:

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

At 1 April 31,508 25,823 

Interest income 623 586 

Contributions from the employer -  -  

Contributions in respect of unfunded benefits 7 7 

Benefits paid (718) (687)

Return on assets excluding amounts included in net interest 3,695 5,779 

At 31 March 35,115 31,508 

2022 2021 

Equity instruments 70% 71%

Bonds 16% 17%

Property 8% 8%

Cash 6% 4%

The analysis of the scheme assets at the Statement of Financial Position date 

was as follows:

Fair value of assets
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22 RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 

 
For financial years ending on or before 28 February 2019, it was not possible for the company to obtain 
sufficient information to enable it to account for the Scheme as a defined benefit scheme, therefore the 
company has accounted for the Scheme as a defined contribution scheme. 

  
 For financial years ending on or after 31 March 2019, it is possible to obtain sufficient information to enable 

the company to account for the Scheme as a defined benefit scheme. 
  
 For accounting purposes, a valuation of the scheme is carried out with an effective date of 30 September each 

year. The liability figures from this valuation are rolled forward for accounting year-ends from the following 
31 March to 28 February inclusive. 

 
 The latest accounting valuation was carried out with an effective date of 30 September 2021. The liability 

figures from this valuation were rolled forward for accounting year-ends from the following 31 March 2022 to 
28 February 2023 inclusive. 

 
 The liabilities are compared, at the relevant accounting date, with the company’s fair share of the Scheme’s 

total assets to calculate the company’s net deficit or surplus. 
  
 We have been notified by the Trustee of the Scheme that it has performed a review of the changes made to 

the Scheme’s benefits over the years and the result is that there is uncertainty surrounding some of these 
changes. The Trustee has been advised to seek clarification from the Court on these items. This process is 
ongoing and the matter is unlikely to be resolved before the end of 2024 at the earliest. It is recognised that 
this could potentially impact the value of Scheme liabilities, but given the current level of uncertainties, it is 
not possible to calculate the impact of this issue, particularly on an individual employer basis, with any 
accuracy at this time. No adjustment has been made in these financial statements in respect of this potential 
issue. 

 
 

  
 
  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Present values of defined benefit obligation, fair value of assets and defined benefit l iability

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Fair value of plan assets 995 1,146 

Present value of defined benefit obligation 1,162 1,278 

Net defined benefit l iability to be recognised (167) (132)
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22 RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 
   

 
 
  

 
 
 

  
 
 
 

 

 

 

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the defined benefit obligation

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Defined benefit obligation at start of period 1,278 1,091 

Expenses 2 2 

Interest expense 27 25 

Actuarial gains due to scheme experience (14) (12)

Actuarial losses due to changes in demographic assumptions (18) 18 

Actuarial losses / (gains) due to changes in financial assumptions (77) 190 

Benefits paid and expenses (36) (36)

Defined benefit obligation at end of period 1,162 1,278 

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the fair value of plan assets

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Fair value of plan assets at start of period 1,146 1,033 

Interest income 25 24 

Experience on plan assets (177) 88 

Contributions by the employer 37 37 

Benefits paid and expenses (36) (36)

Fair value of plan assets at end of period 995 1,146 

Defined Benefit costs recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Expenses 2 2 

Net interest expense 2 1 

Total cost relating to defined benefit scheme 4 3 
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22 RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 
 

  
 
  

 
 
 
 

Defined Benefit costs recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Experience on plan assets (177) 88 

Experience gains and losses arising on plan liabilities 14 12 
Effects of changes in the demographic assumptions 

underlying the present value of the defined benefit obligation 18 (18)

Effects of changes in the financial assumptions underlying 

the present value of the defined benefit obligation 77 (190)

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income (68) (108)

Assets

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Global Equity 191 183 

Absolute Return 40 63 

Distressed Opportunities 36 33 

Credit Relative Value 33 36 

Alternative Risk Premia 33 43 

Emerging Markets Debt 29 46 

Risk Sharing 33 42 

Insurance-Linked Securities 23 28 

Property 27 24 

Infrastructure 71 76 

Private Debt 25 27 

Opportunist Il l iquid Credit 33 29 

High Yield 9 34 

Opportunist Credit 4 31 

Cash 3 -  

Corporate Bond Fund 66 68 

Liquid Credit -  14 

Long Lease Property 26 22 

Secured Income 37 48 

Liability Driven Investment 277 292 

Current Hedging (4) -  

Net Current Assets 3 7 

995 1,146 

None of the fair values of the assets shown above include any direct investments in the employer's 

own financial instruments or any property occupied by, or other assets used by, the employer.
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22 RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 
 

 
 
 

 

 
  

  
23 DEFERRED TAXATION 
  

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Key Assumptions

2022 2021 

Key assumptions used:

Discount Rate 2.79% 2.14%

Inflation (RPI) 3.62% 3.30%

Inflation (CPI) 3.21% 2.85%

Salary Growth 4.21% 3.85%

Allowance for commutation of pension for cash at retirement

Valuation at

75% of maximum 

allowance

75% of maximum 

allowance

The mortality assumptions imply the following life expectancies

2022 2021 

Retiring today:

Males 21.1 21.6 

Females 23.7 23.5 

Retiring in 20 years:

Males 22.4 22.9 

Females 25.2 25.1 

Life Expectancy at age 65

Years

Provision for deferred taxation on investment property revaluation

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Provision at start of period 95 162 

Recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income 170 (67)

Provision at end of period 265 95 

Deferred tax (asset)/liability not recognised -  -  



Annual Report & Accounts for year ended 31 March 2022 
Financial Statements  

 

93 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 March 2022 
 
24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
 The carrying values of the Group and Association’s financial assets and liabilities are summarised by category 

below: 
  

  
 

 
  

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Financial assets - Group

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Measured at undiscounted amount receivable:

Rent arrears and other debtors (see note 15) 1,110 1,082 

Short Term Investments 7,099 6,120 

Cash 5,758 5,202 

13,967 12,404 

Financial assets - Association

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Measured at undiscounted amount receivable:

Rent arrears and other debtors (see note 15) 1,074 1,052 

Amounts due from group undertakings 387 352 

Short Term Invesments 7,099 6,120 

Cash 5,572 4,969 

14,132 12,493 

Financial liabilities - Group

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Measured at amortised cost:

Loans payable 127,512 120,012 

Measured at undiscounted amount payable:

Trade and other creditors (see note 17) 4,565 5,956 

132,077 125,968 
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24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

  
 

 
 

25 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 

 
 

Financial liabilities - Association

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Measured at amortised cost:

Loans payable 127,512 120,012 

Measured at undiscounted amount payable:

Trade and other creditors (see note 17) 4,549 5,899 

Amounts owed to group undertakings 222 21 

132,283 125,932 

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Interest income and expense

Total interest income for financial assets at amortised cost 1 8 

Total interest expense for financial l iabilities at amortised cost 4,645 4,353 

The group's income, expense, gains and losses in respect of financial instruments are summarised 

below:

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Cash flow from operating activities

Surplus for the year 4,465 3,187 

Adjustment for non-cash items:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5,845 5,515 

Amortisation of intangible assets 491 290 

(Increase) / Decrease in stock (20) 492 

(Increase) in debtors (1,243) (42)

(Decrease) / Increase in creditors (2,285) (735)

Increase / (decrease) in provisions -  -  

Pension costs less contributions payable (42) (42)

Carrying amount of property, plant & equipment disposals 1,015 385 

Decrease in fair value of investment property (562) 352 

Adjustments for investing or financing activities:

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment (3,330) (2,017)

Government grants util ised in the year (439) (395)

Interest payable 4,759 4,442 

Interest received (1) (8)

Cash generated by operations 8,653 11,424 
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26 FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS – GROUP & ASSOCIATION 
 

 
 

  
  
27 HOUSING STOCK – GROUP & ASSOCIATION  
 

  

Capital commitments for the Group are as follows:

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Contracted for but not provided for 8,374 31,414 

Approved by the directors but not contracted for 30,662 2,539 

39,036 33,953 

Capital commitments for the Association are as follows:

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Contracted for but not provided for 8,426 31,436 

Approved by the directors but not contracted for 31,032 2,616 

39,458 34,052 

The above commitments will  be financed primarily through borrowings available for draw-down 

under existing loan arrangements, which currently amount to £35.5m, through social housing 

grants and through cash and short term investments held, totalling £5.6m.

Operating leases

2022 2021 

£'000 £'000 

Payments due:-

within one year 98 92 

between one and five years 2 196 

100 288 

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2022 2021 

Units Units 

Owned and managed

General needs housing accommodation at social rent 4,708 4,668 

General needs housing accommodation at affordable rent 1,290 1,239 

Housing accommodation at intermediate rent 21 23 

Supported housing accommodation at social rent 167 167 

Shared ownership accommodation 288 279 

6,474 6,376 
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28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 
Tenants Serving as Board Members 
During the year to 31 March 2022, two tenants served as members of the Board: Mark Ashby and Anita 
Wanowicz.  Their tenancies are on normal commercial terms, and they are not able to use their position to 
derive any benefit which is not available to tenants in general. 
 
The total value of rent and service charges receivable in the year from tenant board members was £8,643.  
 
Investment in Subsidiary 
Trent & Dove Housing Limited has investments in its subsidiary companies First Housing Limited and Trinity 
Housing Developments Limited.  Trent & Dove Housing Limited hold one ordinary share of £1 in each of the 
subsidiaries. The share in First Housing Limited was acquired on 26 March 2009, whilst the share in Trinity 
Housing Developments Limited was acquired on 29 March 2020. This represents the total allotted share capital 
for both subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022. 

  
 First Housing Limited is incorporated in England and Wales and acquired the shops of Trent & Dove Housing 

Limited on 30 March 2009 for the sum of £158k.  First Housing continues to let and maintain shops and had a 
net turnover for the year of £129k (2021: £107k). 

  
 A loan of £252k (2021: £252k) has been provided by Trent & Dove to First Housing Limited. Interest is charged 

at variable rates, with £8k (2021: £9k) payable from First Housing Limited to Trent & Dove in the year. 
 
  Trent & Dove charged a management fee of £5k (2021: £4k) for the year to First Housing Limited for services 

carried out on its behalf. 
 
Trinity Housing Developments Limited is incorporated in England and Wales. It is a design and build company 
set up to provide design and build services to Trent & Dove Housing Limited. Trinity Housing Developments 
Limited started trading in February 2020 and had a net turnover for the year of £922k (2021: £797k). All 
turnover relates to design and build services provided to Trent & Dove Housing Limited. 
 
Pension Schemes 
Trent & Dove Housing Limited participate in the Social Housing Pension Scheme, this provides benefits to 
employees that choose to take part. 
 
Trent & Dove also took part in the Staffordshire County Council Pension Fund. A decision was made to close 
this fund to future accrual from 1 April 2017. 
 
Further details about these schemes can be found in Note 22. 

 
29 CONTROLLING PARTY 
 
 Trent & Dove Housing Limited is the ultimate controlling party of the group. 
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